## CITY OF GREENACRES, FLORIDA



# PERSONNEL POLICIES HANDBOOK

Revised and Approved by City Council/Civil Service Board: February 7, 2022

### **Table of Contents**

Welco	ome to the City of Greenacres	8
Chapt	er 1: Introduction	9
A.	Personnel Policies – Overview	9
B.	Open Door Policy	10
Chapt	ter 2: Hiring and Equal Employment Opportunity	12
A.	Equal Employment Opportunity	12
B.	Equal Employment Opportunity Complaints	12
C.	Job Posting	13
D.	Applications	13
E.	Examination and Testing	13
F.	Background Checks	14
G.	Work Eligibility Verification	14
H.	Employment of Relatives/Nepotism	15
I.	Veterans Preference	16
J.	Appointment	17
Chapt	ter 3: Anti-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Policy	18
A.	City Statement and Philosophy	18
B.	Definitions and Examples of Prohibited Behaviors	18
C.	Individuals Covered Under This Policy	20
D.	Reporting a Complaint	20
E.	Confidentiality	23
F.	Resolution of Complaint	23
G.	Discipline	24
H.	False Accusations.	24
Chapt	ter 4: Employment and Performance Evaluations	25
A.	Positions Created	25
B.	Types of Employees	25
1	Seasonal/Temporary Employee	25
2	2. Regular, Part-time Employee	25
3	Regular Full-time Employee	25

4.	. Paid Intern	25
5.	. Unpaid Volunteer Interns	25
C.	Position Classification and Plan; Compensation Plan	25
D.	Probationary Period	25
E.	Performance Evaluations	26
F.	Performance Based Pay Increases (MERIT)	27
G.	Unsatisfactory Performance	27
H.	Performance Improvement Plans	27
I.	Transfers, Temporary Appointments, and Emergency Appointments	28
J.	Demotions, Reassignment, and Change in Status	28
K.	Promotions	29
L.	Personnel Records	29
Chapte	er 5: Separation from Employment	31
A.	Resignation	31
B.	Involuntary Discharge/Termination	31
C.	Layoff	31
1.	. Notification	31
2.	. Transfer	31
3.	. Approval of City Manager	32
4.	. Layoff Guidelines	32
5.	. Eligibility for Rehire after Layoff	32
D.	Return of City Property	32
E.	Exit Interview	32
F.	Final Paycheck	33
G.	Disposition of Final Paycheck	33
Н.	Disposition of Wages upon Death of Employee	
I.	Re-employment	
Chapte	•	
A.	Working Hours	34
B.	Reporting For Work	
C.	Absence without Leave	
D.	Personal Appearance	
Chapte	er 7: Electronic and Other Communications Policy	38

A.	Electronic Access to Files	38
B.	Internet/Intranet/E-Mail/Devices	38
C.	Confidentiality	39
D.	Prohibited Uses	39
E.	Social Networking, Social Media, and Blogging	39
F.	Mobile Telephone Policy	40
1	. Restrictions While Driving (Non-Commercial)	40
2	. Restrictions While Driving (Drivers Operating Commercial Vehicles Regulated by DOT)	41
3	. Restrictions During Business Hours	41
4	. City-Issued Devices	41
5	. Using Personal Devices for City Business	41
6	. Cellular Phone	42
G.	Telephones and Voicemail	42
Chapt	er 8: Compensation, Benefits, Overtime, Salary, and Records	43
A.	Compensation	43
В.	Overtime - General Policy	43
C.	Overtime Eligibility	43
D.	Employees Not Eligible For Overtime	43
E.	Maintenance of Time Records	44
F.	Benefits	46
Chapt	er 9: Leave	47
A.	Temporary Leave Of Absence (Without Pay)	47
В.	Jury Duty	48
C.	Court Appearances	48
1	. Job Related	48
2	Non-Job Related	48
D.	Domestic Violence/Sexual Violence Leave	48
E.	Military Leave	49
1	. Training	50
2	. Active Duty Assignments	50
3	. Notice of Leave	50
4	. Documentation of Leave	50
5	. Reinstatement after Leave	50

6. Failure to Return after Military Leave	51
F. Bereavement Leave	51
G. Conference and Training Leave	52
H. Administrative Leave	52
Chapter 10: Workers' Compensation	53
A. Safe Work Habits	53
B. Reporting	53
C. Immediate Medical Attention/Care	53
D. Workers' Compensation Procedure	53
E. Retaliation Prohibited	54
F. Temporary Light Duty	54
1. Work Related Injuries and Illnesses	54
2. Non-Job Related Injuries or Illnesses	54
G. Accrued Paid Time Off	54
Chapter 11: Travel and Vehicles	55
A. Travel Expenses and Reimbursement	55
B. Car Allowance and Vehicle Use	55
Chapter 12: Employee Training & Development	57
A. Tuition Reimbursement Program	57
Chapter 13: Vacation Leave	59
A. Accrual of Leave	
B. Payment of Leave Upon Separation	59
C. Use of Leave	59
D. Financial Hardship Vacation Buy-Back	
Chapter 14: Sick Leave	
A. Sick Leave General	61
B. Voluntary Sick Leave Donation Program	
Chapter 15: Holidays	65
A. Observed Holidays	
B. Holiday Pay	
Chapter 16: Family and Medical Leave Act Leave	
A. General Policy Statement	
B. Notice	67

C.	Eligibility	67
D.	Medical Certifications.	68
E.	Intermittent or Reduced Work Week Leave	68
F.	Health Insurance during FMLA Leave	69
G.	Return from FMLA	69
Н.	Concurrent Paid and Other Leave	69
Chapt	er 17: Drug-Free Workplace Policy	70
A.	Policy	70
B.	Authority for Drug & Alcohol Testing	70
C.	Full Drug-Free Work Place Policy	70
D.	Effective Date of Drug-Free Workplace Policy	71
Chapt	er 18: Health and Safety	72
A.	Safety Generally	72
B.	Clean Indoor Air Policy	72
C.	Hurricane & Emergency Preparedness	73
Chapt	er 19: Workplace Violence	76
A.	Prohibited Conduct	76
B.	Procedures for Reporting a Threat	76
Chapt	er 20: Outside Employment	77
A.	General Prohibitions	77
B.	Conflicts Prohibited By State or Local Laws	77
C.	Outside Employment Disclosure and Approval Process	78
D.	Injuries and Outside Employment	78
Chapt	er 21: Conflicts of Interest and Code of Ethics Policy	79
A.	Definitions for Conflict Of Interest and Code of Ethics Policy	79
B.	Prohibited Conflicts Of Interest	80
C.	Solicitation or Acceptance of Gifts	81
D.	Gift Reports	82
E.	Doing Business with the City and Prohibited Employment and Business Relationships	82
F.	Unauthorized Compensation.	83
G.	Misuse of Position	83
H.	Disclosure of Certain Information	84
I.	Solicitation or Acceptance of Honoraria.	84

J.	Travel Expenses	84
K.	Contingency Fees	85
L.	Honesty in Applications for Positions	85
M.	Ethics Training	85
N.	Consequences for Violations	85
O.	Reporting Violations	85
Chapte	er 22: Discipline Guidelines	87
A.	Purpose	87
B.	Standards of Conduct	87
C.	Types of Offenses	87
1.	Group I Offenses	88
2.	Group II Offenses	88
3.	Group III Offenses	89
D.	Types of Discipline and Disciplinary Process	90
1.	Verbal Warning	91
2.	Written Reprimand	91
3.	Suspension	91
4.	Performance Improvement Plans	91
5.	Demotion	91
6.	Involuntary Discharge/Termination	92
E.	Pre-Termination Meeting	92
F.	Post-Termination Name-Clearing Process	92
Employ	yee Acknowledgements	94
TUITION REIMBURSEMENT PROGRAM APPLICATION		
HARASSMENT/DISCRIMINATION REPORT FORM		
APPENDIX A		

#### Welcome to the City of Greenacres

The City of Greenacres would like to welcome you to our family of employees. You are our most important asset and we depend on all of our employees, no matter what your position, to provide services that exceed the expectations of our residents and visitors as we strive to be good stewards of their taxpayer dollars. Our success as a City is dependent on the success of our employees. Every decision we make contributes toward our success. In hiring you, we are certain we made the right decision.

Greenacres was founded on the idea that our founder Lawrence Carter Swain, wanted to create a community for the working class. The City continues to honor Mr. Swain's vision through our continued commitment to our Mission, Values and Goals to make the City a place where people want to live, learn, work and play.

This Employee Handbook serves as a resource for new and current employee's to refer to for guidance on the City's policies and procedures and your responsibilities as an employee. It has been designed to give clear direction to employees and to create a culture where employee related issues are handled fairly and consistently. It is each employee's responsibility to take the time to learn and discuss the Employee Handbook with co-workers, supervisors and Human Resources to ensure a complete understanding of its contents. The City reserves the right to make reasonable changes and updates to any of the policies contained in the Handbook and employees will be notified of such changes as they occur.

Once again, welcome to the City of Greenacres! Best wishes to you and we hope that you will reach your goals with us and help us continue to reach ours.

Sincerely,

Andrea McCue, City Manager

Andra Meller

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### A. Personnel Policies – Overview

The Charter of the City of Greenacres requires that a Civil Service Board be established. The purpose of this Board is to review and amend personnel rules and regulations for the City's classified service with respect to all Citywide matters except longevity, work hours, holidays, vacation time, and leaves of absence with pay. Established rules and regulations, which are amended by the Civil Service Board, must be submitted to the City Council for approval. The City Council, through City Ordinances has appointed the Mayor and the City Council to serve as the Civil Service Board.

Amendment and Revision of Rules: Amendments and revisions of these rules shall be initiated by the City Manager, carefully reviewed by the Civil Service Board/City Council for adoption.

This Handbook is a comprehensive, up-to-date version of the personnel policies of the City of Greenacres. It is applicable to all employees, unless specifically exempted as stated herein. Where an employee is also covered by an existing Collective Bargaining Agreement ("CBA"), these policies will apply unless a conflict exists, in which case the CBA shall control with respect to the conflicting provisions. Similarly, in the case of a conflict between an employment agreement and these policies, the employment agreement will control.

The personnel policies of the City are based upon the following principles:

- Equal opportunity employment without unlawful discrimination based on race, age, color, religion, sex, pregnancy, national origin, physical or mental disability, genetic information, marital status, veteran or military status, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, or any other category protected by applicable federal, state, or local law.
- To provide fair and equitable compensation and benefits as determined at the discretion and judgment of the City Council and within the limitations of the City's budget as adopted or amended from time to time.
- To improve and utilize employee skills, in order to provide high quality work performance, personal growth, and job satisfaction.
- To reward employees for meeting or exceeding performance standards, to improve deficient performance to the extent feasible and appropriate, and to separate those whose deficient performance is not improved or who otherwise perform or conduct themselves in a manner that is incompatible with continued employment, as determined by the City.
- To provide mechanisms which encourage understanding and communication among employees at all levels of the organization, relating to workplace occurrences.
- To recruit, select, and retain employees based upon their knowledge, skills, and ability to perform the duties of their position.
- To provide a professionally administered personnel system based upon policies and procedures which are uniform, reasonable, and fair.
- To provide safe working conditions conducive to efficient, effective, and high quality public service to the residents of the City.
- To provide necessary services to the City and its residents in an efficient, cordial, ethical, and professional manner.

#### NOTICE

This Handbook contains certain policies of the City relating to your employment. This Handbook is intended to help City employees: (1) understand the personnel programs of the City; (2) clarify personnel action to further the efficient operation of the City and decrease the possibility of inappropriate or unlawful workplace behavior; and (3) work together in achieving our common goals.

The contents of this Handbook are presented for your information. Nothing in this Handbook is intended to, or shall, create any contractual obligations of any kind and all provisions in the Handbook are subject to change by the City at any time with or without prior notice. No policy, benefit, or procedure set forth in the Handbook implies or may be construed to imply that this Handbook contains obligations of the City, or otherwise constitutes any contract of employment. All City employment in non-bargaining probationary, seasonal, part-time and temporary positions is at-will, and nothing in this Employee Personnel Policies Handbook is intended to alter this employment-at-will relationship, nor does it create an express or implied contract between employees and the City for any specified period of employment. Importantly, no verbal or written communication made to you by any City employee may alter the at-will nature of City employment. Only a written contract of employment, designated as such, approved and signed by the City Council, approved by the City Attorney, and attested by the City Clerk may alter the atwill nature of City employment. Further, all policies, benefits, compensation structures, and programs provided to employees are subject to funding through the budget process and may be amended or terminated at any time, in the discretion of the City Manager or the authorized designee, with approval of the City Council.

Where an employee is covered by an existing Collective Bargaining Agreement ("CBA"), these policies will apply unless a conflict exists, in which case the CBA shall control with respect to the conflicting provision(s). Similarly, in the case of a conflict between an employment agreement authorized by the City Council and these policies, the employment agreement will control.

To the extent a particular statute, rule, or regulation is amended, any such applicable amendment will control in the event it conflicts with a corresponding policy contained in this Handbook.

Nothing contained in these policies is intended to waive any legal, equitable, or other defense available to any claim, complaint, or cause of action (collectively, "Claims") asserted by an employee or former employee against the City. To the extent that a particular law, statute, rule, or regulation does not apply to the City as a result of its size, number of employees, or otherwise, nothing in these policies and procedures should be construed as a waiver of any corresponding defense to any Claims asserted under any such law, statute, rule, or regulation.

#### B. Open Door Policy

The City is committed to open communication. The City wants to ensure that its employees' ideas, suggestions, and concerns are heard by management. It is also the policy of management to attempt to resolve concerns and disputes that may arise between or among fellow employees or between employees and their supervisors. The City requires employees who have personal concerns about the workplace to bring such concerns to the attention of their immediate supervisor or Department

Director; if the concern is not addressed satisfactorily, the employee may then raise the concern with Human Resources, then the City Manager. This expectation applies to all employees, whether full-time or part-time, or temporary; however, bargaining unit employees may consult with their designated representative. Employees should feel free to voice ideas, suggestions, questions, concerns, or complaints without fear of reprisal, retribution, or retaliation. Although the City has an Open Door Policy, employees are also encouraged to resolve day-to-day issues relating to employment by initially conferring with their immediate supervisor. To the extent the issue, question, or concern is not resolved at that level, employees should then elevate the matter to the next level of management. In this regard, questions, comments, and concerns can be resolved in the most efficient manner at the lowest level of management.

However, in order to protect the integrity of the workforce and to provide for the efficient operation of the City, neither the Mayor nor any member of the City Council shall direct any City employee, who is supervised directly or indirectly by the City Manager, but rather, shall seek such direction only through the City Manager or his or her expressed designee. This shall include, but not be limited to, publicly or privately giving orders, directing employees in their duties, seeking information about City operations, or directing the enforcement of law; but shall not include making personal observations which can be used to assist the Mayor and Council in the formulation of City policy. Nothing in this section shall prohibit the Mayor or any member of the City Council from (1) engaging in informal pleasantries with City employees; (2) making an inquiry or seeking City services solely as a City resident, (3) engaging employees who address the Council during Council meetings, (4) engaging in campaigning for re-election by communicating with City employees who are also City electors, or (5) interacting with the designated officials of an employee bargaining unit certified to represent City employees by the Public Employees Relations Commission.

#### **Chapter 2: Hiring and Equal Employment Opportunity**

#### A. Equal Employment Opportunity

It is the policy and practice of the City of Greenacres to treat all employees with dignity and respect and to provide equal opportunity to all persons without regard to race, age, color, religion, sex, pregnancy, national origin, physical or mental disability, genetic information, marital status, veteran or military status, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, or any other category protected by applicable federal, state, or local law. The City's responsibility as a public agency is to ensure an on-going commitment to Equal Opportunity and making the workforce profiles more closely reflect the available labor force of the community. Equal opportunity encompasses all aspects of employment practices, including but not limited to recruiting, hiring, training, compensation, benefits, promotions, transfer, layoffs, recall from layoffs, discipline, and department-sponsored education, social, and recreational programs. It is the policy of the City of Greenacres government that all personnel actions and employment practices are based solely on the requirements of the position and the qualifications of the applicant without regard to race, age, color, religion, sex, pregnancy, national origin, physical or mental disability, genetic information, marital status, veteran or military status, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, or any other category protected by applicable federal, state, or local law.

In addition, the City of Greenacres prohibits retaliation against any individual who reports discrimination or harassment or who participates in any investigation of such reports, or who engages in any other activity protected by applicable law. This policy covers all personnel actions affecting hiring, job assignments, training, promotions, transfers, compensation, discipline, termination of employees, or any other tangible employment benefit or term or condition of employment.

The City of Greenacres will make reasonable accommodations for qualified individuals with known disabilities unless doing so would result in an undue hardship or where doing so would cause a direct threat to the health or safety of the individual or others. This policy governs all aspects of employment, including selection, job assignment, compensation, discipline, termination, and access to benefits and training. If, during the course of employment, an employee sustains any type of physical or mental impairment which limits the employee's ability to perform the essential functions of his or her job, the City may require that the employee provide medical documentation regarding any such impairment and, if appropriate, identify specific accommodations which may assist the employee. The City will engage in an appropriate interactive process with the employee in determining potential accommodations when requested by the employee. All information provided regarding any impairment will be handled confidentially to the extent required by law.

#### **B.** Equal Employment Opportunity Complaints

Employees with questions or concerns about any potential discriminatory or harassing conduct or behavior in the workplace are required to immediately (within 24 hours) bring such concerns to the attention of their supervisor(s), the Department Director, Human Resources, and/or the City Manager. Complaints should initially be made to the employee's immediate supervisor, unless the supervisor is the subject of the complaint, or if the employee is not comfortable making the complaint to that supervisor. Supervisors and Department Directors receiving a complaint shall

immediately (within 24 hours) forward it to Human Resources first and then the City Manager. Inappropriate comments or acts of harassment, whether physical or verbal, regarding race, age, color, religion, sex, pregnancy, national origin, physical or mental disability, genetic information, marital status, veteran or military status, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, or any other category protected by applicable federal, state, or local law, that interfere with the working environment or the terms and conditions of employment are specifically prohibited. Any individual who is found to have engaged in conduct of a harassing or discriminatory nature in the workplace will be disciplined, up to and including termination. This includes, but is not limited to, harassing conduct in the form of unsolicited or unwelcome sexual overtures or physical contact. Such conduct must be reported immediately to an employee's supervisor, the Department Director, Human Resources, or the City Manager.

#### C. Job Posting

The City provides employees an opportunity to indicate their interest in open positions and advance within the organization according to their skills and experience. The City will post all bargaining unit job openings in accordance with the applicable collective bargaining agreement. Non-bargaining positions may be posted in the City's sole discretion and judgment and in accordance with applicable laws.

#### **D.** Applications

Employment applications and interviews are the starting point in gathering information about prospective employees. To be considered for employment external applicants must submit a completed employment application to the Human Resources Division and internal applicants are required to submit a Letter of Interest and resume, including fingerprints for certain positions. Any falsification or misstatement of information on the application, Letter of Interest, Resume, or during an interview will subject the employee to discipline up to, and including, termination upon discovery of the falsification or misstatement. Fraudulent conduct, false statements or omission of information by an applicant or by others under his or her direction in any application materials shall be deemed cause for the exclusion of such applicant from employment and cessation of the hiring process or discharge from the City's employment.

Complete applications shall be filed with Human Resources. The applications of all individuals shall be preserved by Human Resources and retained in the individuals' personnel files upon hiring, and retained in compliance with the applicable retention schedule promulgated by the Division of Library and Information Services, Department of State. Applications of the individuals who were not hired by the City shall be retained for four (4) anniversary years after the decision. Unsolicited applications that do not respond to a particular job announcement will be retained until obsolete, superseded or administrative value is lost.

#### E. Examination and Testing

In its discretion and judgment, Human Resources in consultation with the Department Director or appropriate Department supervisor, may conduct appropriate testing of applicants for particular positions including, but not limited to, tests for Administrative Assistant/clerical positions and the proficiency in various systems or skills. The result of any such validated testing shall be provided to the Department Director or supervisor for consideration during the interview process if a particular applicant is selected for an interview. Persons with a disability requiring reasonable accommodations should contact Human Resources prior to scheduling tests. Any test utilizing

numerically based selection process shall provide veterans' preference points in accordance with applicable law.

#### F. Background Checks

Applicants offered employment will be subject to a background investigation which may include criminal, academic, motor vehicle records, employment, and reference checks. Background checks and screenings will be conducted in a manner consistent with federal and state law. Additionally, background checks may vary depending on the essential functions and nature of the position, including pre-employment physicals. In addition to initial background checks, certain employees who regularly or periodically operate City vehicles, will be required, as a condition of employment, to provide authorization for the City to perform periodic checks regarding driving history. Such checks regarding driving history will be conducted in accordance with federal and state law. Employees operating City vehicles will be required to provide notification of any suspension, revocation, or restriction of their license to Human Resources within one (1) week of such suspension, revocation, or restrictions. In no event may an employee with a suspended, revoked, or restricted license operate a City vehicle or a personal vehicle while on City business. Employees may be required to have certain vehicle licenses (e.g., CDL license) for certain positions.

#### G. Work Eligibility Verification

The City is committed to employing only individuals who are authorized to work in the United States and complies with the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986. As a condition of employment, each new employee must properly complete, sign, and date the first section of the Immigration and Naturalization Form I-9 at the time the offer of employment is accepted, but no later than the first day of employment. The employee must also provide the supporting documents within three (3) business days of the first day of employment, or as otherwise provided by law. Before commencing work, newly rehired employees must also complete the Form I-9 if the employee did not previously do so, if the prior Form I-9 is more than three years old or if the previous Form I-9 is no longer valid. Rehired employees must also complete the Form I-9 upon acceptance of the position and also have three (3) business days to provide supporting documentation. Any employee whose immigration employment eligibility status changes at any time during employment must notify Human Resources immediately.

The City utilizes E-Verify, which is an Internet-based system that allows an employer, using information reported on an employee's Form I-9, to determine the eligibility of that employee to work in the United States. The City utilizes E-Verify for all new hires as well as re-hires. New hires must be E-Verified within 3 business days of beginning employment. If the employee is required to be E-Verified and presents a List B document, then that List B document must contain a photograph. The List B photograph is to be compared to the individual during the Form I-9 process. If the employee who is required to be E-Verified chooses to present an Employment Authorization Document (Form I 766), Permanent Resident Card (Form I-551) or U.S. passport/U.S. passport card during the Form I-9 process, the City must copy such document and keep it with the employee's completed Form I-9 (i.e., upload to the electronic I-9 system). The photo on such document will be compared to a photo displayed by the E-Verify system during the E-Verify process to see if the two photos are reasonably identical.

#### H. Employment of Relatives/Nepotism

The City complies with Florida law relating to the restriction of employment of relatives. As such, a public official may not appoint, employ, promote, or advance, or advocate for appointment, employment, promotion, or advancement, in or to a position in the City in which the official is serving or over which the official exercises jurisdiction or control, any individual who is a relative of the public official. An individual may not be appointed, employed, promoted, or advanced in or to a position in the City if such appointment, employment, promotion, or advancement has been advocated by a public official, serving in or exercising jurisdiction or control over the City, who is a relative of the individual or if such appointment, employment, promotion, or advancement is made by a collegial body of which a relative of the individual is a member.

For purposes of this policy, "public official" means an employee of the City in whom is vested the authority by law, rule, or regulation, or to whom the authority has been delegated, to appoint, employ, promote, or advance individuals or to recommend individuals for appointment, employment, promotion, or advancement in connection with employment in the City, including the authority as a member of a collegial body to vote on the appointment, employment, promotion, or advancement of individuals.

It is the policy of the City that no employee shall be hired to work in the same department as a relative as defined below except in accordance with the terms of this section:

1. If two employees change their family relationship by marriage, adoption, or other means so as to come in conflict with these prohibitions, one of them shall be transferred to a different department if possible, granted a waiver by the City Manager or separated from the City service.

If related employees are eligible for promotion, advancement, or a raise in pay or status, other than cost of living increases, the appropriate Department Director shall make a special evaluation of the proposed change and report to the City Manager or designee for a determination before any change takes place.

For purposes of this policy, a "relative" with respect to a public official or employee, means an individual who is related to the public official or employee as father, mother, son, daughter, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, first cousin, nephew, niece, husband, wife, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, stepfather, stepmother, stepson, stepdaughter, stepbrother, stepsister, half-brother, or half-sister.

This policy shall be interpreted and applied in a manner consistent with Section 112.3135, Florida Statutes.

Other circumstances may arise that create an actual conflict of interest, or the appearance of a conflict of interest. In such circumstances, the City Manager or designee will have ultimate discretion and authority to determine whether a relative's appointment to a position is appropriate.

#### I. Veterans Preference

In accordance with Florida law, the City provides a Veteran's preference in appointment and retention to qualified Veterans, spouses, and certain family members.

The following persons shall be eligible to receive preference in appointment and retention in employment:

- A Veteran who served on active duty in any branch of the U.S. Armed Forces, received an honorable discharge, and has established the present existence of a service-connected disability that is compensable under public laws administered by the Department of Veterans Affairs ("DVA");
- A disabled Veteran who is receiving compensation, disability, retirement benefits, or pension, by reason of public laws administered by the DVA and the U.S. Department of Defense;
- The spouse of a person who has a total disability, permanent in nature, resulting from a service-connected disability and who, because of such disability, cannot qualify for employment;
- The spouse of a person missing in action, captured in the line of duty by a hostile force, or forcibly detained or interned in the line of duty by a foreign government or power;
- Wartime Veterans as defined under Fla. Stat. § 1.01(14) who served at least one (1) day during a wartime period (Please note: active duty training does not qualify under this provision);
- An unremarried widow or widower of a Veteran who died of a service-connected disability;
- The mother, father, legal guardian, or unremarried widow or widower of a member of the U.S. Armed Forces who died in the line of duty under combat-related conditions, as verified by the U.S. Department of Defense;
- Current members of any Reserve componeent of the U.S. Armed Forces or the Florida National Guard.

When Veteran's preference positions are posted, the City will provide notice in all announcements and advertisements of vacancies in covered positions that preference in initial appointment will be given to eligible individuals and will inform them of the right to an investigation by the Department of Veteran's Affairs if a non-preference eligible applicant is appointed to a position, the time limits for requesting such investigation, and the address to which the request for an investigation should be sent.

The City's application for positions covered by the Veteran's preference laws will inquire as to whether the applicant is claiming Veterans' preference.

The City will maintain records which document the manner of the selection and the propriety of the selection process and decision in accordance with federal and state laws.

Certain positions are not covered by Veteran's preference. Veteran's preference is not provided with respect to City positions which are filled by officers elected by popular vote or persons appointed to fill vacancies in such offices, members of boards and commissions, persons employed on a temporary basis without benefits, Department Directors, and positions that require that the employee be a member of The Florida Bar, and positions posted internally.

Preference in appointment and employment requires that a preferred applicant be given special consideration at each step of the employment selection process, but does not require the employment of a preferred applicant over a non-preferred applicant who is the most qualified applicant for the position. However, the City reserves the right to waive a postsecondary educational requirement for a position of employment for a current member of any reserve component of the United States Armed Forces or the Florida National Guard or a veteran who has been honorably discharged if the person is otherwise qualified for the position.

Granting of an interview is one example of the type of special consideration which may be given to a preferred applicant. If, at any stage of the hiring process, a preference-eligible Veteran meets minimum qualifications for an open position, then he or she will advance to the next step in the City's selection process. If, at any step in the selection process, a determination is made that the Veteran is not qualified to advance to a subsequent step in the selection process, such determination will receive a review at a higher level of management having authority to overturn the initial determination, to ensure whether the determination was correct.

The City has developed and implemented, or will develop and implement, a written veterans' recruitment plan that establishes annual goals for ensuring the full use of veterans in the City's workforce. Each veterans' recruitment plan must be designed to meet the established goals.

In the event State or local Veterans preference laws and regulations are amended, such applicable amendments will control.

#### J. Appointment

The City Manager has the authority to appoint, suspend, or remove all City employees. The City Manager may authorize a subordinate to exercise such powers with respect to that subordinate's department or division.

#### **Chapter 3:** Anti-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Policy

#### A. City Statement and Philosophy

The City is committed to maintaining a professional work environment in which all individuals are treated with respect and dignity. The environment of the City should be characterized by mutual respect and the absence of intimidation, oppression and exploitation. Employees should be able to work and learn in a safe, yet stimulating atmosphere. The accomplishment of this goal is essential to the mission of the City. For that reason, the City will not tolerate unlawful discrimination or harassment of any kind. Through enforcement of this policy and by education of employees, the City seeks to prevent behavior that violates this policy and will take appropriate corrective action when violations occur.

The City endeavors to provide a collegial and professional work environment which promotes equal opportunities and prohibits harassing or discriminatory behaviors based upon color, race, religion, sex, national origin, citizenship, age, disability, marital status, pregnancy, sexual orientation, military status, genetic information, gender identity or expression, or any other category protected by applicable law. In addition, the City prohibits retaliation against any individual who reports discrimination or harassment or who participates in any investigation of such reports, or who engages in any other activity protected by law. At the City, harassment or discrimination based on any category protected by applicable law, whether occurring in the office, at work assignments outside the office, at office sponsored social functions, or elsewhere, is unacceptable and will not be tolerated.

All employees, regardless of their positions, are covered by and are expected to comply with this policy and to take appropriate measures to ensure that prohibited conduct does not occur. Appropriate disciplinary action will be taken against any employee who violates this policy. Based on the seriousness of the offense, disciplinary action may include, but is not limited to, verbal counseling, written reprimand, suspension or termination of employment.

In addition to its prohibition on discrimination or harassment based on a protected category, the City prohibits any "bullying" behavior regardless of whether it is based on a protected characteristic. Such behavior has a negative impact the City's work environment and is unacceptable.

#### B. Definitions and Examples of Prohibited Behaviors

The City of Greenacres prohibits harassment of any kind, including sexual harassment, and will take appropriate and immediate action in response to complaints or knowledge of violations of this policy. For purposes of this policy, harassment is any verbal or physical conduct designed to threaten, intimidate, denigrate, or show hostility or aversion toward, or coerce an employee, coworker or any person working for or on behalf of the City of Greenacres. Verbal taunting (including racial and ethnic slurs) that impairs his or her ability to perform his or her job is included in the definition of harassment.

#### General Harassment

The following examples of harassment are intended to be guidelines and are not exclusive when determining whether there has been a violation of this policy:

- Verbal harassment includes comments that are offensive or unwelcome regarding a person's race, color, national origin, ethnicity, age, religion, disability, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, genetic information, familial status, pregnancy, marital status, veteran's status or other characteristics as prohibited by applicable law.
- Nonverbal harassment includes distribution, display or discussion of any written or graphic material that ridicules, denigrates, insults, belittles or shows hostility, aversion or disrespect toward an individual or group because of national origin, ethnicity, age, religion, disability, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, genetic information, familial status, pregnancy, marital status, or other characteristics as prohibited by applicable law.

Harassing conduct includes, but is not limited to: epithets, slurs or negative stereotyping; threatening, intimidating or hostile acts; denigrating jokes and display or circulation in the workplace of written or graphic material that denigrates or shows hostility or aversion toward an individual or group (including through e-mail). Harassing conduct also includes physical acts including, but not limited to, blocking or impeding movement, inappropriate touching, or violence.

#### Sexual Harassment

Sexual harassment is prohibited. For the purposes of this policy, sexual harassment is defined as unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when, for example: (i) submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an individual's employment; (ii) submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting such individual; or (iii) such conduct is sufficiently severe and pervasive that is has the purpose of effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance or creating and intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment.

The following examples of prohibited sexual harassment are intended to be guidelines and are not exclusive when determining whether there has been a violation of this policy:

- Verbal sexual harassment includes innuendoes, suggestive comments, jokes of a sexual nature, sexual propositions, lewd remarks and threats; requests for any type of sexual favor (this includes repeated, unwelcome requests for dates); and verbal abuse or "kidding" that is oriented toward a prohibitive form of harassment, including that which is sexual in nature and unwelcome.
- Nonverbal sexual harassment includes the distribution, display or discussion of any written or graphic material, including calendars, posters, videos or other electronic media, and cartoons that are sexually suggestive or show hostility toward an individual or group because of sex; suggestive or insulting sounds; leering; staring; whistling; obscene gestures; content in letters and notes, facsimiles, e-mail, photos, text messages, tweets and Internet postings; or other form of communication that is sexual in nature and offensive.
- Physical sexual harassment includes unwelcome, unwanted physical contact, including touching, tickling, pinching, patting, brushing up against, hugging, cornering, kissing and fondling, violence, or forced sexual intercourse or assault.

The City prohibits discrimination in employment when based on a person's race, color, national origin, ethnicity, age, religion, disability, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, genetic information, familial status, pregnancy, marital status, veteran's status or other characteristics as prohibited by applicable law. Discrimination in violation of this policy will subject an employee to disciplinary measures up to and including termination.

This behavior is unacceptable both in the workplace and by any employee in any setting outside the workplace, including but not limited to other work-related settings such as business trips and business-related social events.

#### Consensual Romantic or Sexual Relationships

The City strongly discourages romantic or sexual relationships between a manager or other supervisory employee and subordinate in his/her chain of command because such relationships tend to create compromising conflicts of interest or the appearance of such conflicts. If there is such a relationship, one or both parties may be moved to a different department, or other actions may be taken including but not limited to disciplinary action of the appropriate level up to and including termination. If any Manager/Supervisor enters into a consensual relationship that is romantic or sexual in nature with a subordinate within their chain of command (an employee who reports directly or indirectly to him or her), or if one of the parties is in a supervisory capacity in the same department in which the other party works, the parties must notify the Director of Human Resources or designee. Co-workers who become aware of such a relationship must also report that relationship to Human Resources. This requirement does not apply to employees who do not work in the same department or to parties who do not supervise or otherwise manage responsibilities over the other.

Once the relationship is disclosed, Human Resources will review the situation, (reporting relationship between the parties, effect on co-workers, job titles of the parties, etc.) and will determine whether one or both parties need to be moved to another position or department provided they meet the minimum requirements for another position. If it is determined that one party must be moved, and there are positions in other departments available for both, the parties may decide who will be the one to apply for a new position. If the parties cannot amicably come to a decision, or the party is not chosen for the position to which he or she applied, Human Resources will decide which party should be moved to minimize disruption to the City as a whole. If it is determined that one or both parties must be moved, but no other positions are available for either party, the parties will be given the option of terminating their relationship or resigning.

#### C. Individuals Covered Under This Policy

This policy covers all employees, appointed officials, and elected officials. The City will not tolerate harassment, discrimination, or retaliation whether engaged in by employees or supervisors. In addition, the City will not tolerate harassment or discrimination engaged in by anyone not a supervisor or an employee (e.g., resident, supplier, etc.) to the extent that it affects any employee of the City.

# D. Reporting a Complaint *Notification/Reporting Procedure*

An individual who believes he or she has been subjected to harassment or discrimination, or other violation of this policy, must immediately (within 24 hours) report the incident to the supervisor, Human Resources, any Department Director, or the City Manager. In the event an employee complains of an elected official's conduct, the employee must report the conduct to the City Manager. Reports do not have to be filed within the chain of command of any department, including the Fire Department. Reports may be filed directly with any Supervisor, Department Director, Human Resources or the City Manager.

When initially reported to the supervisor, Human Resources or a Department Director, the supervisor, Human Resources /Department Director must immediately forward a written report of the complaint to the City Manager for action and assignment of the investigation. Where the complaint involves the City Manager, the supervisor, Human Resources /Department Director shall forward the written complaint to the City Attorney's office to obtain direction and assistance. In the event of a complaint about an elected official's conduct, the City Attorney will be consulted for assistance.

A report may be filed verbally or in writing. A written report may be filed by completing the "City of Greenacres Harassment/Discrimination Report Form", available on the intranet or from the Human Resources Division. A report may also be filed by letter specifying allegations of harassment or discrimination. When a report is submitted verbally either by telephone or in person, Human Resources will use the information to complete the City of Greenacres Harassment/Discrimination Report Form. All oral reports of harassment or discrimination must be reduced to writing by either the complainant or the individual(s) designated to receive complaints.

The written report shall contain the following:

- a) date(s) of the event(s), action(s), or practice(s) giving rise to the report;
- b) a description of the event(s), action(s), or practice(s) giving rise to the report;
- c) name(s) of the alleged violator(s) and potential witness(es);
- d) copies of any written, electronic, pictorial, or other forms of documentation; and
- e) signature of the reporting party.

Incidents may be reported in person, by phone, by FAX, by email, by interoffice mail, or U.S. mail at:

Director of Human Resources Human Resources Division 5800 Melaleuca Lane, Greenacres, Florida 33463 Phone: 561-642-2001

Fax: 561-642-2027

City Manager

Department of Administration 5800 Melaleuca Lane, Greenacres, Florida 33463 561-642-2017

Department Directors 5800 Melaleuca Lane, Greenacres, Florida 33463

Fire Chief	561-642-2101
City Clerk	561-642-2006
Finance Director	561-642-2019
Development and Neighborhood Services Director	561-642-2040
Public Works Director	561-642-2074
Community & Recreation Services Director	561-642-2180
Director of Purchasing	561-642-2039
Information Technology Director	561-642-2035
Youth Programs Director	561-642-2191

Human Resources or designee is responsible for the investigation of all reports. Human Resources will work under the supervision of the City Manager and/or legal counsel if deemed appropriate and in conjunction with other departments depending on the nature of the investigation. If a complaint involves Human Resources, the City Manager will designate an appropriate investigator. Based on the information provided, a report is either investigated by the Director of HR, a designee or referred for outside investigation as may be appropriate. When the information is referred, Human Resources will inform the reporting party of the steps that have been taken. Employees shall not falsify reports, provide false information, or disclose confidential information during any part of any investigation.

Active investigations are exempt from disclosure as public records until a final finding is made, the investigation of the report becomes inactive, or the report or other record is made part of the official record of any hearing or court proceeding. The City will not disclose information about active investigations when covered by this exemption and requests that participants in the investigation maintain confidentiality.

#### Management Responsibility

All members of management are expected to be proactive in maintaining a discrimination and harassment-free work environment. All members of management with knowledge of actual or suspected violations of this policy are responsible for promptly reporting such to Human Resources or the City Manager and ensuring conformance to this policy by all of their subordinates. Failure to do so will result in discipline up to and including termination of employment. All members of management are expected to seek advice from Human Resources or designee concerning any questions regarding City practice or interpretation of this policy.

#### **Protection Against Retaliation**

The City will not retaliate against an individual who makes a report of harassment or discrimination under this policy and strictly prohibits any supervisor or employee from retaliating

against a complainant. Retaliation is a very serious violation of this policy and must be reported immediately. No employment related loss, benefit or penalty may be imposed on an employee in response to:

- Filing or responding to a good faith complaint under this policy.
- Participating as a witness in the investigation of a complaint.
- Serving as an investigator of a complaint.

Retaliation or attempted retaliation in response to lodging a complaint under this policy or invoking the complaint process is a violation of this policy. Any person who is found to have violated this aspect of the policy will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

#### E. Confidentiality

Any reported complaint of harassment or discrimination will be promptly investigated. Confidentiality will be maintained throughout the investigatory process to the extent practical and appropriate under the circumstances, and the extent consistent with the needs of the investigation. Employees should be aware that the City is obligated to investigate the complaints it receives under this policy. Additionally, the City cannot entertain requests by the reporting employee, or anyone else, that the information received be ignored, be maintained "off the record", or otherwise fail to act upon the information.

#### F. Resolution of Complaint

Upon completing the investigation of a complaint, the investigator will report to the City Manager. The City Manager will review the investigation and decide upon appropriate action to be taken. The City Manager or designee will communicate the findings and the resolution to the complainant and alleged harasser.

If the City Manager concurs that the findings support a conclusion that a violation of this policy occurred, the violator(s) will be subject to appropriate disciplinary procedures, including immediate termination. The complainant will be informed of the disciplinary action.

If the City Manager concurs that the findings do not support a determination that a violation of this policy occurred, this finding will be communicated to the complainant in an appropriately sensitive manner.

If the City Manager concurs that the investigative findings are inconclusive with respect to a violation of this policy, the City may take appropriate action to ensure that all involved individuals fully understand the policy and the behaviors prohibited by the policy. Such appropriate action may include, but is not limited to, education, training, and/or disciplinary action up to, and including, immediate termination.

The elected body shall handle the resolution of complaints regarding any of the elected official's conduct in consultation with the City Attorney.

The actions taken by the City Manager as a result of the investigation are final.

#### G. Discipline

Individuals found to have engaged in behavior violating this policy or failing to adhere to this policy, whether or not such behavior constitutes harassment or discrimination as defined by law, will be disciplined, up to and including immediate termination. Discipline will be determined by the City Manager. In the rare occasion where the City Manager is found to be the violator, the City Attorney will consult with the City Council in accordance with applicable laws to discuss and determine appropriate action. In addressing incidents of harassment or discrimination, the City may impose: oral or written reprimands; referral to counseling, training or education; withholding of a promotion; demotion; reassignment; temporary suspension without pay; reduction in compensation; limitation on contact between the harasser and the complainant; termination; any other corrective action necessary to stop the behavior complained of; or, any combination of the above.

#### H. False Accusations

If an investigation results in a finding that the complainant falsely and maliciously accused another of harassment or discrimination, the complainant will be subject to appropriate sanctions, as described above, including termination.

#### **Chapter 4: Employment and Performance Evaluations**

#### A. Positions Created

The City Manager shall fix and establish the number of employees in the various departments, offices and activities, and determine duties and compensation in accordance with applicable policies, practices and procedures, subject to approval of the City Council and budget limitations.

#### B. Types of Employees

#### 1. Seasonal/Temporary Employee

Seasonal/Temporary employees are employed in positions other than regular full-time or regular part-time and are designed to be for a brief period, often as a result of seasonal needs, such as camps offered by Youth Programs.

#### 2. Regular, Part-time Employee

Regular, part-time employees are employed in positions regularly scheduled for less than 30 hours per week. Part-time employees are generally not entitled to benefits, such as paid leave.

#### 3. Regular Full-time Employee

Regular, full-time employees are employed in positions regularly scheduled for 30 hours or more per week and are generally entitled to benefits.

#### 4. Paid Intern

Paid Interns who work for less than six (6) months are considered Temporary employees. Paid Interns who work for more than six (6) months are considered Regular, Part-time employees.

#### 5. Unpaid Volunteer Interns

Unpaid Volunteer Interns are considered volunteers and are not entitled to any pay or benefits offered by the City to its employees other than coverage under the City's workers' compensation policy.

#### C. Position Classification and Plan; Compensation Plan

Human Resources shall maintain and update a Position Classification Plan and Compensation Plan such that positions having similar job factors and levels of difficulty shall be classified and compensated on a uniform basis. The Compensation Plan shall consist of a systematic arrangement of pay policies as necessary for City operations and budgets. The compensation considerations for the position classes shall be coordinated with the position classification plan and shall be based on factors as determined by the City.

#### D. Probationary Period

Newly hired regular non-union, full-time and part-time employees are subject to a probationary period of six (6) months from the date of hire. Newly hired employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement are subject to a probationary period of one (1) year from the date of hire. Non-union employees who are promoted or transferred to another position are also subject to a probationary period of six (6) months from the date of such promotion or transfer. Bargaining unit employees who are promoted or transferred to another position are also subject to a probationary period of six (6) months from the date of such promotion or transfer. Department Directors reserve

the right to extend the probationary period up to an additional six (6) month period, with approval from the City Manager and in consultation with the Director of Human Resources. The City will not extend a probationary period beyond one year. Notwithstanding the probationary period and consistent with the at-will nature of City employees' employment, an employee may be terminated at any time (including during or after the probationary period), as determined in the sole discretion and judgment of the City. All recommended terminations will be reviewed by the City Manager, in concert with Human Resources, prior to the actual termination of an employee.

#### **E.** Performance Evaluations

The City will utilize a program for evaluating the work performance of its employees that may be amended from time to time. The City, in cooperation with each Department Director, will administer a system of rating employee performance. The standards of performance recommended as a basis of such rating will have reference to the quality and quantity of work performed, the manner in which the work is performed, the conduct of employees, and other characteristics and competencies which measure employees' performance and engagement.

Effective October 1, 2016: The performance evaluation date for employees hired before October 1, 2016, who are promoted, transferred or demoted to another position in the City will not change as a result of the promotion, transfer or demotion. The performance evaluation date for employees hired on or after October 1, 2016 will be their date of hire.

The purpose of these evaluations is to, when possible, enable employees and supervisory personnel to work together to improve job performances and correspondingly, improve the service provided to the residents of the City. A copy of the employee performance evaluation will be provided to and discussed with an employee. The employee, as well as all individuals involved in the rating process, will be required to sign and date the form. The original evaluation shall be placed in the employee's personnel file.

Employee performance evaluations should be conducted prior to the end of the probationary period, or any extension thereof. Additionally, thereafter, Department Directors or their designee are encouraged to conduct performance evaluations on an annual basis. This does not preclude more frequent evaluations, which may be prepared by the Department Director with support from Human Resources.

Performance evaluations will be used in determining: the successful completion of an employee's probationary period; any salary increases or decreases; the issuance of disciplinary actions, reprimands, or dismissal; order of layoff; training, promotions, demotions and transfer; and for such other appropriate purpose(s).

Each Department Director or his or her designee shall prepare and record on forms, whether in hard copy or electronic format, prescribed by the City, evaluations of the performance of all regular, full-time employees, probationary employees, and part-time employees. Employees will be provided with comments for each rating below or above the Meets Expectations to document the mastery level behavior and identify areas for improvement and given S.M.A.R.T. goals for future attainment. The position description shall be reviewed for any changes in position responsibilities, or required knowledge, skills and abilities, and recommendations made for updates. All performance evaluations must have Department Director approval before it is given

to an employee. All Performance Improvement Plans (PIPs) and performance evaluations with the following overall rating must be reviewed by Human Resources prior to being given to the employee: Does Not Meet Expectations, Exceeds Expectations, and Greatly Exceed Expectations. The employee will be afforded up to two (2) working days to provide written comments, sign and return the form to the supervisor. If the employee declines to sign the form, he/she shall be encouraged to discuss any concerns with their immediate supervisor. If the employee still declines, the supervisor shall note "employee declined to sign" on the signature line, initial and date the form.

While Seasonal/Temporary employees are not covered by the City's performance evaluation program, they are subject to all City disciplinary policies and procedures.

#### F. Performance Based Pay Increases (MERIT)

Based on the overall performance identified through the performance evaluation process, performance-based pay increases may be granted in the City's discretion and judgment, subject to funding and budget. Any such performance-based pay increase will be effective annually, usually coinciding with the employee's date of hire. Merit increases may take the form of a percentage of salary, or a set amount that is either added to the base pay or provided as a one-time lump sum payment. Merit increases added to the base pay shall not cause an employee's salary to exceed the maximum rate of pay for the position. Employees with salaries at the maximum rate of pay who are eligible for a percentage-based merit increase will receive the increase in the form of a lump sum payment.

Employees whose overall performance is rated as Meets Some Expectations or Does Not Meet Expectations will not be eligible for a merit increase until an overall performance rating of Meets Expectations is achieved for two (2) consecutive rating periods using the Interim Performance Evaluation Form. *Performance based increases shall only be prospective in nature and shall not be retroactive.* 

#### **G.** Unsatisfactory Performance

Employees who fail to perform at a satisfactory level shall be subject to disciplinary action up to, and including, termination. The City may also place an employee on a Performance Improvement Plan (described below), which may include an additional period of probation.

#### H. Performance Improvement Plans

Employees who fail to meet a satisfactory performance standard in any one or more area(s) may be placed on a Performance Improvement Plan, which may also include an additional period of probation. Generally, Performance Improvement Plans are implemented for a 30-90 day period, depending on the nature of the performance issue(s). Employees placed on Performance Improvement Plans are expected to demonstrate immediate and sustained improvement of performance. All employees placed on a Performance Improvement Plan are subject to termination, transfer, extended probation, or demotion for failing to meet the requirements of the plan, failing to improve performance to a satisfactory level, or for experiencing other conduct, disciplinary, or performance issues during the course of the Plan. Importantly, Department Directors, with the approval of the City Manager and in consultation with the Director of Human Resources reserve the right to terminate an employee, at any time (including during or after the

completion of a Performance Improvement Plan). An employee is not entitled to be placed on a Performance Improvement Plan prior to his or her employment with the City being terminated.

#### I. Transfers, Temporary Appointments, and Emergency Appointments

Employees may be transferred to meet the operational needs of the City. A transfer may require an employee to move from a particular division, the assignment of different work, or the transfer to a different position. Temporary transfers or appointments shall not exceed twelve (12) months. An employee subject to transfer or temporary appointment may receive a different salary from their original position, as described herein. Employees assigned for more than thirty (30) consecutive calendar days to a higher classification shall be paid according to the following:

If an employee is transferred, voluntarily or involuntarily, the rate of pay for the new position shall be determined as follows:

- 1. If the pay rate of the former position falls within the same range of pay as the new position, the salary rate shall remain the same.
- 2. If the employee's pay rate of the former position is higher than the pay range of the new position, the salary shall be decreased to the prior pay rate, including any escalators that would have occurred.

An Annual Performance Evaluation will be completed by the new Supervisor on the Employees anniversary date. Employees who change positions due to transfer will have an Interim Evaluation completed by the most recent Supervisor, which will include future goals given by the new Supervisor.

#### **PAY GRADE**

Any employee's position that is reclassified to a higher pay grade shall receive a 5% increase or move to the minimum of that new pay grade, whichever is higher.

#### TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS

Employees temporarily assigned to an interim or acting supervisory position in a higher grade shall receive the minimum salary of that grade or a 10% increase, whichever is greater, if the assignment exceeds 30 calendar days.

Any employee temporarily assigned to a project or initiative that falls outside their normal scope of work, shall receive a 10% increase in pay until the assignment has been completed. Such projects and initiatives must be approved by the City Manager.

#### J. Demotions, Reassignment, and Change in Status

An employee may be demoted or reassigned by the Department Director, with the approval of the City Manager and in consultation with the Director of Human Resources, when such employee's documented work or conduct is unsatisfactory or unacceptable as determined in the City's sole discretion and judgment. An employee who is demoted or reassigned to a position in a lower pay grade will receive new compensation and shall serve a six (6) month probationary period.

The rate of pay, for employees who are demoted, will be adjusted as follows:

- 1. If demoted within six (6) months of a promotion, the salary shall reflect the salary prior to such promotion including any escalators that would have occurred.
- 2. Other than #1 above, If the employee's pay rate of the former position is higher than the pay range of the new position, the salary shall be decreased to the prior pay rate, including any escalators that would have occurred.

In no event will the employee's base rate of pay exceed the maximum for the position to which the demotion is made.

An Annual Performance Evaluation will be completed by the new Supervisor on the Employees anniversary date. Employees who change positions due to demotion, reassignment or change in status will have an Interim Evaluation completed by the most recent Supervisor, which will include future goals given by the new Supervisor.

#### K. Promotions

A promotion is defined as the change of an employee from one position to another position for which a higher maximum rate of pay is established.

Employees are eligible for the following salary increases upon promotion:

- 1. Promotions from exempt to exempt or non-exempt to non-exempt to minimum of new grade or 5% increase, whichever is higher.
- 2. Promotions from non-exempt to exempt position to minimum of new grade or 5% increase whichever is higher. All accrued Compensatory Time must be paid at the employee's current non-exempt salary prior to the effective date of promotion.
- 3. Promotions from non-supervisory to supervisory positions to a minimum of the new grade or 10% increase whichever is higher.
- 4. For Department Director positions ONLY, the City Manager shall have the discretion to promote anywhere within the salary range of the position that is on the salary schedule.

In no event will the employee's base rate of pay exceed the maximum for the position to which the promotion is made.

Promoted employees must successfully complete a six-month probationary period in their new position.

An Annual Performance Evaluation will be completed by the new Supervisor on the Employees anniversary date. Employees who change positions due to promotion will have an Interim Evaluation completed by the most recent Supervisor, which will include future goals given by the new Supervisor.

#### L. Personnel Records

The City maintains personnel records and files for each employee and tracks employee-related information for internal business purposes, to comply with applicable laws, to administer the City's

employment and benefits programs, and to comply with Florida's Public Records Act. In this regard, unless information is exempt or confidential under Florida law, employment records are subject to disclosure requirements of the Florida Public Records Act. Employees wishing to review their personnel file may do so by request made to Human Resources. A representative of Human Resources will be present during such review. Employees may also obtain copies of personnel file materials in accordance with the City's public records policy.

All employee information must be kept current. Employees must provide notification through the online portal immediately following certain changes in status but no later than seven (7) calendar days after such change. Changes in status that must be submitted through the online portal, include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Name, address, telephone number, or email address; and,
- Emergency contact information.

Changes in status that must be reported in writing to Human Resources include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Marital status (for insurance and COBRA purposes);
- Dependent status (for income tax withholding and insurance purposes);
- Beneficiary information (for life insurance purposes); and,
- Bank account information (for direct deposit purposes).

Employees should be aware that because most information contained in a personnel file is not exempt or confidential under Florida's public records law, personnel file materials will be made available for review by the public upon receipt of a public records request. Confidential information will be, and exempt information generally will be, redacted prior to the release of records. Such requests, whether they are made in verbal or written form, must be submitted in accordance with the City's normal procedures.

#### **Chapter 5:** Separation from Employment

#### A. Resignation

An employee wishing to voluntarily terminate employment with the City, while remaining in good standing, is asked to submit a letter of resignation to the Department Director or designee. Employees are asked, but are not required, to communicate such resignation not less than fourteen (14) calendar days prior to their effective termination date. Department Directors should endeavor to provide a minimum of thirty (30) calendar days of notice. Upon receipt of a letter of resignation, a Department Director or designee shall immediately route it to Human Resources where it shall become part of the employee's personnel file. Note: the failure of an employee to communicate their resignation not less than fourteen (14) calendar days prior to their effective termination date will make them ineligible for the payout of sick leave, and may make them ineligible for re-hire.

#### B. Involuntary Discharge/Termination

Non-bargaining, probationary, seasonal, part-time and temporary City employees are employed on an at-will basis. Accordingly, either the City or an employee may terminate his or her own employment, with or without cause or prior notice. Termination decisions by a Department Director or designee are conditional and subject to the review by and in consultation with the Director of Human Resources. All terminations will be based on legitimate, non-discriminatory factors.

#### C. Layoff

Department Directors, with the approval of the City Manager and in consultation with the Director of Human Resources, retain full authority to lay off employees within their Department. Layoffs may be implemented for reasons including, but not limited to, shortage of work or funds, the elimination of the position, material changes in the duties or organization, or for other reasons which may be determined by the City in its sole discretion and judgment. The temporary or permanent separation of an employee from employment resulting from disciplinary action shall not be considered a layoff. All layoffs will be based on legitimate, non-discriminatory factors.

#### 1. Notification

Employees to be laid off shall be notified in writing by a completed Notice of Layoff form prior to the effective date of the layoff, or as soon as practicable, as determined by the City. Employees subject to layoff will also be provided with additional information regarding benefits continuation and related issues from Human Resources.

#### 2. Transfer

If an employee is scheduled to be laid off, he/she may request a transfer to another position if a vacancy exists and he/she is qualified to fill the vacant position. Subject to approval by the City Manager, the Director of Human Resources, and the Department Director(s), an employee may request a voluntary transfer to another position for which the employee is qualified, if any are available. While voluntary transfers to another position may be requested, the City does not guarantee that such requests will be granted.

#### 3. Approval of City Manager

Prior to the implementation of a layoff, the names and position titles of any and all employees scheduled for layoff shall be submitted to the City Manager for review and approval.

#### 4. Layoff Guidelines

In the event that employee layoffs are to occur within a particular Department, the Department Director, under the direction of the City Manager and with the assistance of Human Resources, will generally use the following layoff guidelines:

- Temporary, part-time, and probationary employees in the affected position(s) within the Department will generally be laid off prior to the layoff of regular, full-time employees who have completed their probationary period. However, the City reserves the right to retain temporary, part-time, and probationary employees in positions for which no regular, full-time employees are qualified or otherwise decline to express an interest in the position.
- The basis for determining layoffs of regular, full-time employees who have completed their probationary period shall include an assessment of various legitimate, non-discriminatory factors, including but not limited to: seniority, performance evaluations, and disciplinary actions on file, conduct, qualifications, and any other legitimate, non-discriminatory factors.

The City reserves the right to modify the layoff procedures set forth above based on its operating requirements, as determined in its sole discretion and judgment.

#### 5. Eligibility for Rehire after Layoff

Employees subject to layoff are eligible for rehire and may submit applications for any vacant positions for which they are qualified.

#### D. Return of City Property

An employee leaving employment with the City, whether through resignation, lay-off, involuntary termination, or otherwise, shall return any City property in the employee's possession, custody, or control. Identification cards and access cards, if issued by the City, are City property. Upon separation, such property must be returned to an employee's Department Director or to Human Resources. Departing employees must also return any and all electronic data, information and passwords in addition to executing any documents necessary for transfer of authority with external entities (e.g. banking signatures, etc.) Failure to return City property or information may result in the value of outstanding City property being deducted from the employee's final paycheck in accordance with applicable law or having property or damages recovered by the City through appropriate legal action.

#### E. Exit Interview

Any time an employee separates employment with the City, the employee's Department Director may schedule an Exit Interview with the employee and a representative of Human Resources. Exit Interviews shall not affect in any manner, any compensation or benefits due to the employee by virtue of the separation. During the course of the Exit Interview, if conducted, the employee will

be asked to complete an Exit Interview Questionnaire and encouraged to provide input into matters directly associated with their employment with the City such as:

- job satisfaction;
- personnel matters;
- training, both internal and external;
- compensation and benefits;
- general suggestions as to how to improve the delivery of services to both employees and the City's residents; and
- employee's reason for leaving.

#### F. Final Paycheck

Any employee leaving City employment shall be entitled to receive: regular and any applicable overtime compensation earned through the last day of employment. Non-probationary employees shall also be entitled to receive the monetary equivalent of accrued and unused vacation time and may be eligible for payout of sick leave under certain circumstances as described in this Handbook. All appropriate payroll taxes and withholdings shall be deducted from the foregoing amounts.

#### G. Disposition of Final Paycheck

The final paycheck shall be prepared and transmitted to the employee via direct deposit, U.S. Mail, or otherwise on the next regularly scheduled pay date. Vacation and any applicable accrued leave balance will be paid within thirty (30) days of the last day of employment.

#### H. Disposition of Wages upon Death of Employee

In the unfortunate event of an employee's death, the City will pay any wages and/or travel expenses due to the deceased employee to the employee's spouse. In the case there is no spouse, then any such amounts will be paid to the employee's child(ren), provided the child(ren) are over the age of 18. In the event there is no child(ren), then such amounts will be paid to the employee's parent(s).

#### I. Re-employment

An employee who resigns or is laid off from City employment in good standing, and who subsequently applies for re-employment may be considered in filling available positions for which the individual is qualified. An employee who has resigned from City employment in good standing and is re-employed, shall not be credited with prior City service in the computation of vacation or sick time. With respect to credit for pension service, an employee must return to full-time employment within the time period and circumstances required under the City's retirement plan ordinance. An employee who is involuntarily terminated, resigns without fourteen (14) calendar days prior written notice (or thirty (30) calendar days prior written notice, in the case of Department Directors unless the City Manager waives such notice requirement), resigns while disciplinary action is pending against the individual, or is dismissed from employment, shall not be eligible for re-employment.

#### Chapter 6: Hours of Work, Attendance, and Appearance

#### A. Working Hours

The City of Greenacres administrative offices are open for business from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, except for official holidays. Working time does not include meal periods. Exceptions to the above schedule may be requested by a Department Director and established by the City Manager in accordance with the special requirements of the respective Departments. Furthermore, the City Manager may prescribe hours of work other than those specified, if necessary.

Some, but not all, departments may be eligible to work a four-day workweek. Eligibility for departments utilizing four-day work schedules will be determined based on operational need of the department and the City. Various City operations require coverage 5 days a week, or are required to operate 24 hours per day and a four-day work schedule would not be feasible. The City may administratively modify or discontinue four-day work schedules at any time, for any reason, with or without prior notice. Operating hours for each department will be determined in accordance with the operational needs of the City and the department.

For business reasons beneficial to City operations, the City Manager, in consultation with Human Resources, may authorize certain Departments or Divisions to maintain a Forty (40) Hour, four (4) Day Workweek (10-hour days) for Non-Exempt Personnel. In such event, Four (4) ten (10) hour workdays each workweek shall be based on a fixed schedule. The four (4) day workweek includes working consecutive days, four (4) days on and three (3) days off, unless otherwise directed by the City Manager or designee. Each Department will be responsible for establishing their work hours. It will be the responsibility of the Director to ensure that staff is available to cover key functions during normal work hours. Non-Exempt employees shall not work more than forty (40) hours in any given workweek unless given prior approval from the Department Director.

Subject to work load and the operational needs of the City and its Departments, employees will generally be provided a meal period of at least thirty (30) minutes. Such meal break will be scheduled at the discretion of the Department Director. Non-exempt employees are prohibited from performing any work during bona fide meal periods. Non-exempt employees directed to perform work during their meal break should report such issue to Human Resources immediately.

#### **B.** Reporting For Work

Employees shall report promptly at their designated working place and shall devote their entire efforts during working hours to assigned duties. In the event that an employee is unable to report for work as scheduled, the employee must notify the supervisor at one (1) hour prior to the designated starting time daily, unless the employee is experiencing a bona fide health or family emergency (in which case the employee should notify the Department Director or supervisor as soon as possible under the circumstances). Such notification should be conducted in accordance with the directions provided by the Department Director or appropriate supervisor.

Failure to notify the Department Director or supervisor as provided herein may result in denial of the use of accrued sick or vacation leave for that day's absence or other disciplinary action, in accordance with applicable law. Nothing in this section is intended to infringe upon or eliminate any rights an employee may have under the Family and Medical Leave Act.

#### C. Absence without Leave

Unauthorized and unreported absences may be considered absences without leave and may constitute grounds for disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment. Failure to report to work without notice for three (3) consecutive days will generally be considered job abandonment and the employee will be terminated.

#### D. Personal Appearance

The City considers proper dress, personal appearance, personal cleanliness, and safety, a part of each employee's job and shall be consistent with assigned duties and responsibilities. Clothing shall be businesslike and shall be maintained in good repair, clean, and pressed. An effective dress and grooming policy will contribute to creating a positive public image, establishing a consistent identity for customers and residents, and setting a positive and professional tone for the workplace. The City's policy is set forth below:

- 1. The dress code may vary for different departments based on assigned duties and responsibilities or essential job functions. This policy may supersede department policy based upon the determination of the City Manager.
- 2. Office personnel shall dress in appropriate, professional attire and present themselves in a professional manner when on the job.
- 3. City Identification Badges must be worn and easily visible during work hours by clipping the ID Badge to clothing or a lanyard. Keeping the ID Badge in a pocket, briefcase, purse, backpack or other personal item does not meet this requirement.
- 4. In departments where uniforms are provided, the uniforms shall be worn during working hours in accordance with the dress code policy of the department. All uniformed personnel shall wear uniforms in the manner they are intended, in good repair, and maintain a neat appearance.
- 5. Maternity wear shall meet the same general standards as other attire.
- 6. Although Friday is a "Dress Down" or "Casual Day" for employees not required to wear a uniform, good taste and modesty are still required. Jeans may be acceptable, provided they do not have holes, are not excessively baggy or loose, are not excessively tight, and are otherwise professional.
- 7. Employees are expected to exercise common sense and dress in an appropriate and tasteful manner. Employees should not wear anything too tight, too loose, sloppy, or too short.
- 8. Upon request, the department(s) will review uniforms provided to the employees, based on the function(s) performed in the department.

- 9. City uniforms and uniform items (shirts, pants, jackets, *etc.*) should be worn only during business hours or when City business is conducted after hours with appropriate approval.
- 10. Regardless of hair length, hair should be clean and combed and/or neatly trimmed or arranged. Additionally, facial hair, including moustaches, sideburns, and beards, should be neatly kept.
- 11. Facial piercings, aside from earrings, detract from the neat, clean and professional image that the City aims to cultivate. Employees are generally prohibited from wearing facial piercings, other than two per ear lobe, while on duty. However, depending on the nature of the duties and level of interaction with residents, the Director of Human Resources may approve one tasteful and discrete facial piercing per employee.
- 12. Employees are expected to use good judgment with respect to personal hygiene and grooming standards. In this regard, employees are expected to bathe regularly and exercise oral hygiene to avoid offensive body and mouth odor. Employees should keep their fingernails trimmed and of a reasonable and appropriate length that does not impair work performance or create a safety hazard.
- 13. Employees should refrain from using excessive amounts of perfume, cologne, aftershave, or lotion. Employees, citizens, and guests who are sensitive to perfumes and chemicals may suffer adverse effects. When wearing perfume, cologne, after-shave, hair-spray, lotion or similar products, please take in to consideration those working around you and anyone from the public you may come in contact with who may have sensitivities to those scents. Employees should also refrain from using scented air fresheners, room deodorizers, plugin wall air fresheners, or similar products.

The Department Director and City Manager may make exceptions to the dress code policy for special days, such as holidays or special occasions. Employees may request an exception to this policy based on a bona fide religious belief, ethnicity, or disability, by contacting Human Resources to request a reasonable accommodation. Exceptions shall be considered regarding specific job duties and responsibilities, but shall always follow the rule of business necessity. Employees may be allowed to "dress down" with Director's approval when working on temporary projects or assignments, *i.e.* moving of an office.

Department Directors and all supervisors and managers shall be responsible for the dress code compliance of their respective departments. Open communication is the key to consistent enforcement of the dress code policy.

Should an employee come to work wearing inappropriate attire or otherwise in violation of this policy, the employee is subject to progressive discipline and may be sent home to change. An employee will be considered "off the clock" when sent home in violation this policy. The Department Director and the Director of Human Resources shall make the final determination in questionable situations.

Please note that in applying this policy, the City will undertake to make reasonable accommodations for individuals with sincerely held religious beliefs, as well as for individuals with disabilities, as appropriate, unless doing so would create an undue hardship.

#### **Chapter 7: Electronic and Other Communications Policy**

#### A. Electronic Access to Files

All employees are expected to exercise prudence and take reasonable actions to prevent access by unauthorized persons or groups to the City's networks. This includes being alert to spam and phishing email messages, viruses, Trojans and hacking attempts.

Employees are provided different levels of access within each department and may be provided access to other department's electronic files based on the nature of the specific job responsibilities. While having the ability to access information to effectively perform our responsibilities is important, such access does not ever give one the authority to access information that one has the ability to access but there is no reason to access it. Because the majority of City information is public, employees who are curious about information in an area outside of their job responsibilities are always welcome to make a request for information. Employees are prohibited from accessing information for their own knowledge or use outside of their respective responsibilities.

The City reserves the right to track access of information through random, unannounced audits.

#### B. Internet/Intranet/E-Mail/Devices

The City's Internet, Intranet, Electronic Mail systems, and devices are intended to facilitate City business objectives and communication among employees, customers, and other governmental and business associates for messages, memoranda, research, or other work-related tasks. The City will maintain a separate Computer Network Security administrative directive policy that may be updated and amended from time to time, as necessary. Violations of this policy or the Computer Network Security policy may result in termination of network access privileges and disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment, and/or criminal or civil penalties or other legal action as applicable. For a copy of the Computer Network Security policy, please contact Human Resources or the IT Department.

The internet, Intranet, E-mail systems, and devices are City property and are intended for City business. The systems and devices are not to be used for employee personal reasons or personal gain or to access, support, or advocate non-City related business or purposes. All data and/or electronic messages created, received, or transmitted within the system or device are the property of the City. E-mail messages may need to be retained as public records depending on their content if so, the Department of State Records retention schedules shall apply.

In addition, the City, through its managers and supervisors will review the contents of any employee's Internet/Intranet/E-mail communications when necessary for City business purposes. However, employees may not intentionally intercept, eavesdrop, record, read, alter, or receive other persons' Internet/Intranet/E-mail messages without proper authorization. Employees who misuse Internet/Intranet/E-mail/Device privileges shall be subject to discipline up to and including termination.

All Department Directors are responsible for the implementation and adherence of this policy within their Department. Department Directors (or their designees) are encouraged to work with their entire staff toward that end. In the event that any Department policy contradicts this policy, this policy shall govern.

#### C. Confidentiality

Although confidential passwords are issued, users will be aware that this does not suggest that systems are for personal confidential communication, nor does it suggest that access to and use of City of Greenacres Internet/Intranet/E-mail/Device is the property right of the employee. Passwords should be changed every 90 days to ensure security of the E-Mail system. Users should not share their password with anyone else. The Internet/Intranet/Email systems and devices are restricted to City business related usage only.

#### D. Prohibited Uses

The City's Internet/Intranet/E-Mail systems and devices shall not be used to create, access, or transmit any offensive, inappropriate, or disruptive messages or data. Examples of messages or data which are considered offensive, inappropriate, or disruptive include any message, video, or data which contain sexual implications, pornography, racial slurs, gender specific content, or any other comment that offensively or inappropriately addresses someone's race, gender, age, sexual orientation, religious or political beliefs, national origin, gender identity or expression, genetic information, or disability or any other category protected by applicable federal, state, or local law. Employees are also prohibited from using the City's Internet/Intranet/E-Mail systems and/or devices to engage in inappropriate workplace behavior, such as online dating, gambling, or pornography.

Incidental and occasional personal use of City systems and devices is permitted, but information and messages stored in the City's systems and devices will be treated as business-related and may be viewed by the City at any time with or without prior notice.

#### E. Social Networking, Social Media, and Blogging

The City takes no position with respect to an employee's decision to engage in social networking, social media, or to start or maintain a blog. However, it is the right and duty of the City to protect itself from unauthorized disclosure of information.

Unless specifically authorized by the City to do so as part of an employee's position (and with supervisor approval), employees are not permitted to blog or use other forms of social networking, media, or technology on the Internet during working hours or at any time on City computers or other City-supplied devices. Blogging or other forms of social media or technology include, but are not limited to, video or wiki postings, chat rooms, personal blogs, or other similar forms of online journals, diaries or personal newsletters (e.g., Facebook, Myspace, Twitter, LinkedIn, YouTube, LiveJournal, SnapChat, Instagram, Tik Tok, etc.) not affiliated with the City.

Unless specifically instructed, employees are restricted from speaking on behalf of the City. Employees may not publicly discuss employees, residents, or any work-related matters, whether confidential or not, outside City-authorized communications, in accordance with applicable law. Employees must protect the privacy of the City, its employees, and residents. Employees are prohibited from disclosing such information to which employees have access through their City position. However, nothing herein shall limit an employee's right to express his or her opinions on matters of public concern related to political, social, or other non-personal concerns in the community. Additionally, nothing herein shall be construed as an attempt to infringe upon an individual's rights under applicable federal, state, or local law.

Bloggers and users of social media and networking sites are personally responsible for their commentary and may be held personally liable for commentary, media, or photography that is considered defamatory, obscene, proprietary, or libelous by any offended party.

Employees may not use City-owned equipment, including computers, City-licensed software or other electronic equipment, City facilities or City time, to conduct personal blogging, social networking, or to use other social media for non-City business.

Employees may not use blogs or social media to harass, threaten, discriminate, or disparage against employees or anyone associated with or doing business with the City.

If an employee chooses to identify himself or herself as an employee of the City, some readers may view the employee as a spokesperson for the City. Because of this possibility, employees must state that the views expressed in their blogs, postings, and other social media outlets are their own and not those of the City, or of any person or organization affiliated or doing business with the City.

Employees are prohibited from posting the name or trademark of the City or any business with a connection to the City on any blog or social media outlet. Employees are prohibited from posting recommendations of current or former employees, current or former vendors, or other persons related to City business without written permission from the Director of Human Resources.

Employees are prohibited from linking from a personal blog or social media site to the City's internal or external web site.

If contacted by the media or press about a post that relates to the City, employees are required to refer the inquiry to the Department Director. If the City engages in social networking activities as an organization for a public purpose, all such communications by employees must maintain and reflect the City's standards of professionalism. Communications must strictly adhere to the City's policies regarding confidentiality and refrain from disclosure of information exempt and/or confidential under the public records laws.

City use of social media sites will comply with all provisions of Florida law, ordinances, resolutions, and policies of the City and any applicable federal or state law rule or regulation, including, but not limited to, the Florida Public Records Act (Chapter 119, Fla. Stat.) and the Standards of Conduct applicable to Public Officials and Employees (Section 112.313, Fla. Stat.).

#### F. Mobile Telephone Policy

The City discourages the use of mobile telephone devices in certain situations, while prohibiting such use in others, to promote safety, efficiency, and productivity in the workplace. Employees who violate this policy may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including, immediate termination.

#### 1. Restrictions While Driving (Non-Commercial)

Employees driving motor vehicles for City purposes must avoid distracted driving and minimize the use of hand-held mobile telephone devices. Employees are expected to assess all driving conditions before using a hand-held mobile telephone device while driving. State law also prohibits using a handheld device in a school zone, school crossing or active work zone. Employees in the drivers' seat are prohibited by state law from texting, emailing, or instant messaging while the vehicle is in motion. If it is necessary to use the device while in transit and hands-free is not available, the driver should find an appropriate and safe place to park the vehicle before using the device. The vehicle should be in "park" for automatic transmission vehicles or "neutral" with the parking brake applied for manual transmission vehicles. However, using a hand-held mobile telephone device is permissible when necessary to communicate with law enforcement officials or other emergency services.

# 2. Restrictions While Driving (Drivers Operating Commercial Vehicles Regulated by DOT)

Drivers of City vehicles qualifying as commercial motor vehicles are prohibited from texting and emailing while driving. Texting while driving is only permissible under DOT regulations when necessary to communicate with law enforcement officials or other emergency services.

Drivers of the City's commercial motor vehicles are prohibited from using a hand-held mobile telephone device while driving a commercial motor vehicle. However, using a hand-held mobile telephone device is permissible when necessary to communicate with law enforcement officials or other emergency services.

#### 3. Restrictions During Business Hours

All mobile telephone devices, whether personally owned or issued by the City, should be placed in either vibrate or silent modes during meetings. During the meeting, employees should only utilize the mobile telephone device to obtain urgent information relating to the meeting or operations of the City, or for emergency use. Emergency use is generally related to a threat to the health or safety of a colleague, family member or citizen.

Use of personal mobile telephone devices during business hours is generally prohibited, except when the employee is on an authorized break and away from his or her work station, customers or residents. Employees are prohibited from using a personal mobile telephone device when actively engaged with the citizens or the public. Employees are prohibited from using a personal mobile telephone device at any time during a customer interaction.

#### 4. City-Issued Devices

Employees who have been provided with a City-issued mobile telephone device shall operate the device within the terms of the contract to avoid overage charges. Broken or unusable devices shall be returned to the IT Department for reorder or repair. Employees are prohibited from directly contacting the service provider. Employees should be aware that information sent, received, or stored on City-issued devices relating to City business is subject to Florida's Public Records law.

#### 5. Using Personal Devices for City Business

Employees should be aware that information sent, received, or stored on personal cell phone or other device which relates to City business is subject to Florida's Public Records law, regardless of the fact that it is sent, received, or stored on such personal device.

#### 6. Cellular Phone

Employees holding the position of Department Director or higher may receive one (1) City-issued cellular phone. Other City employees may receive one (1) City-issued cellular phone if the City, in its sole discretion, determines that the position requires a City-issued cellular phone. Should the employee's employment with the City end for any reason, the employee shall return the City-issued cellular phone to the IT Department of the City immediately.

#### G. Telephones and Voicemail

Employees are not permitted to incur charges on any City equipment including telephones, cellular phones, pagers or computers that are not directly related to City business. Any employee who uses such equipment in violation of this policy shall be personally responsible for the full amount of any charges incurred including any interest charged by the company providing the service on the City's equipment. Any charges incurred by employees in violation of this policy shall be deducted from the employee's next paycheck immediately following discovery of said charges, to the extent permitted by federal and state law.

Moreover, should the charges to the employee exceed the amount that may be deducted from the next paycheck, the City shall continue to deduct the charges from each successive paycheck until the City is completely and fully reimbursed for such charges, to the extent permitted by federal and state law.

Employees have no expectation of privacy with respect to information in voicemail because such information is the sole property of the City and may be inspected by management or others at any time, with or without prior notice. The contents of electronic mail obtained through legitimate business purposes may be disclosed within the City without permission of the employee.

Any violation of this policy shall subject the employee to discipline up to, and including, termination.

The use of City systems may not be used for solicitation of commercial ventures, religious or political causes, outside organizations, or other non-job related solicitations. Furthermore, these systems may not be used to create any offensive or disruptive messages, including any violation of the City's anti-discrimination and anti-harassment policy.

#### Chapter 8: Compensation, Benefits, Overtime, Salary, and Records

#### A. Compensation

Employees shall be compensated on the regular pay date. The City will not provide pay advances on wages or leave to any employee.

#### **B.** Overtime - General Policy

Department Directors will make every effort to maintain service level standards while keeping overtime use to a minimum. However, when overtime is worked, the City will compensate employees for the overtime hours in accordance with applicable law.

#### C. Overtime Eligibility

All nonexempt employees shall be compensated for periods worked in excess of forty (40) hours worked per workweek, at a rate of one and one-half (1 and ½) times their regular straight-time rate of pay. The City's workweek runs from Thursday at 12:00 a.m. through Wednesday at midnight for the purpose of calculating hours worked for overtime purposes. Only actual hours will be considered for purposes of determining eligibility for overtime compensation. Approved paid leave will be considered actual hours worked. However, sick leave and sick leave converted to personal leave shall not be considered actual hours worked if used within one working day (before or after) any additional hours worked by an employee.

Non-exempt, non-bargaining employees assigned to work on a holiday shall be paid at 1.5 times the regular rate of pay for actual hours worked on the designated holiday.

All overtime work must be approved by the Department Director or his or her designee. While employees will be paid for all overtime work, employees who work unauthorized overtime may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

The City's workweek for regular employees runs from Thursday to Wednesday. The workweek is used to measure hours worked for overtime purposes.

Non-exempt employees will not be compensated for bona fide meal breaks. Non-exempt employees are prohibited from performing work during uncompensated meal breaks. In the event an employee is asked to work during an uncompensated meal break, the employee must contact Human Resources immediately, verbally and in writing.

Note: Employees may accrue compensatory time off in lieu of payment for overtime up to a maximum of 40 hours.

### D. Employees Not Eligible For Overtime

Generally, employees considered "exempt" from the minimum wage and overtime provisions of applicable law include those employees holding executive, administrative, learned professional, and outside sales positions, among others. These employees are paid a salary that is intended to compensate the employee for all hours worked, including any hours worked over 40 in any given workweek. Employees of the City who are unsure of their status as an exempt or nonexempt employee should contact Human Resources. Exempt employees are not eligible for overtime.

Employees exempt from the overtime provisions of applicable law are expected, as part of their responsibilities, to work in excess of forty (40) hours per week from time to time as required by the requirements and needs associated with their position. Exempt employees do not receive overtime or other compensation relating to hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours per week.

It is our policy and practice to accurately compensate employees in compliance with all applicable state and federal laws. If an employee is classified as an exempt employee, the salary for the position is intended to compensate the employee for all hours worked. While the salary may be subject to review and modification from time to time, the salary is a predetermined amount that will not be subject to deductions for variations in the quantity or quality of the work.

Certain deductions from the salaries of exempt employees are permissible. However, exempt employees who believe that their salary may have been improperly reduced, must report their concerns to Human Resources, in writing within fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt of the payroll check reflecting the asserted deduction. To the extent that it is determined that an improper deduction was made, such amounts will be reimbursed to the employees affected and the City will undertake a good faith commitment to comply in the future.

#### E. Maintenance of Time Records

Hourly or exempt employees are required to record all hours worked on the daily time records to ensure the City's compliance with the Fair Labor Standards Act. At the end of each pay period, employees must submit the daily time records to their Department Director who, together with the employee, will examine those records. The Department Director or Supervisor will approve the time record after review. This process will be done electronically for non-bargaining employees. Once time recorded has been approved, the Payroll Specialist will review each time record for accuracy and run payroll. Department Directors shall maintain daily time records and shall furnish Human Resources with payroll records for all employees under their supervision in accordance with City policies and procedures. Department Directors shall review and sign their payrolls, and shall report any irregularities to the Supervisor and then to Human Resources.

Non-Exempt Employees: Non-Exempt or hourly employees are required by Federal Law and by the City of Greenacres to accurately record the time they begin and end their work, including the beginning and ending time of bona fide unpaid meal periods. Non-bargaining hourly employees will utilize an electronic timekeeping program (Executime) once fully implemented or, if not available, a time card/sheet for documentation of all hours worked.

Employees are responsible for reviewing their electronically recorded time record, reporting any missed clock punches to their Supervisor or Department Director, and ensuring the accuracy of their time record for each pay period. Employees must submit requests for leave through the electronic system.

The electronic timekeeping system rounds and adjusts pay as set forth below as allowed by applicable law:

• The City will track employee hours worked in 15-minute increments, as the Fair Labor Standards Act allows an employer to round employee time to the nearest quarter hour.

- Therefore, employee time from 1 to 7 minutes must be rounded down, and thus not counted as hours worked, but employee time from 8 to 14 minutes must be rounded up and counted as a quarter hour of work time. This arrangement averages out so that the employees are fully compensated for all the time they actually work.
- Example: If an employee has "clocked" in at 10:07 am, the time clock will automatically round the "clock in" time down to 10:00 am, and conversely if the employee "clocks in" at 10:08 am or later, the time clock will automatically round the clock up to 10:15 am. This same example would apply for similar "clock out" times as well.

Where the electronic timekeeping system is not available or if the employee does not have access, the requirements for manual/paper timekeeping records and other best practices are:

- 1. Time card/sheet must record the beginning and end of the work day and any unpaid meal or rest period.
- 2. The employee's immediate Supervisor or Department Director must preapprove any time worked before or after the assigned schedule, unless an emergency situation occurs. Regardless of when work is performed, all work must be reflected on the time card/sheet.
- 3. Working hours that are not reported ("off-the-clock" work) is strictly prohibited and violates Florida and federal law. Hourly employees shall not perform any work before they clock in or after they clock out. Regardless of whether hours worked are tracked electronically or manually, working off-the-clock violates both Federal Law and Florida law.
- 4. Regardless of whether hours worked are tracked electronically or manually, employees must work their assigned work schedules and may not begin work and clock in prior to scheduled time in an effort to end work and clock out earlier at the end of the shift. Any work outside of scheduled hours must be approved by the Supervisor in advance.
- 5. Employees who regularly miss punching in or out may be subject to discipline.
- 6. Unpaid meal breaks for non-bargaining employees are either 30 minutes or one (1) hour as determined by the Supervisor or Department Director and no work will be performed during this time. If an employee performs any work during his/her unpaid meal break, the employee must immediately report that issue to his or her supervisor.
- 7. Each employee must record his or her own work time and shall not enter or modify another employee's time records. However, the Supervisor may document an unexpected departure during the work day with the reason for the modification (e.g., an emergency).

Exempt Employees: These salaried employees will NOT use the electronic timekeeping system to record their hours worked. Exempt employees are paid a salary without regard to specific hours worked. Exempt employees are expected to work the hours necessary to

complete all their job duties and are not covered by the overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act. Exempt employee must use the Executime to request time off and to manage paid time off.

An employee who believe he or she may not have been paid correctly must report such concern within two (2) weeks of discovering the potential issue, both verbally and in writing, to payroll. Employees must report both instances in which they believe that they may not have received enough compensation, as well as instances in which they believe they may have received too much compensation.

Altering, falsifying, or tampering with time records, the timekeeping system, or the timekeeping equipment is prohibited and will subject employees to discipline up to and including termination.

#### F. Benefits

Full-time employees will be eligible for certain benefits that the City may offer from time to time, including, for example, health, vision, and dental insurance, retirement benefits, short-term disability benefits, and vacation and sick leave. Participation in such benefits plans is subject to applicable plan rules and requirements. Additionally, the City reserves the right to amend or eliminate benefits in its discretion and judgment based on operating and financial needs, subject to any restrictions imposed by law or contract.

Prior to retirement, employees may consult with the Human Resources Division to obtain information on continuation of group health benefits under the City's then existing plan for the retiree and his or her dependents at the retiree's sole expense.

Please see Human Resources for additional information regarding benefits currently available to full-time employees.

To allow the City to calculate the appropriate insurance premiums and to provide COBRA notices, all employees shall promptly notify Human Resources Division of any changes to marital status or dependents.

#### Chapter 9: Leave

#### A. Temporary Leave Of Absence (Without Pay)

Employees may, upon written request to the Department Director and subsequent approval by the City Manager and in consultation with the Director of Human Resources be granted a leave of absence without pay no more often than once in a 24-month period, rolling backward. A Temporary Leave of Absence Without Pay shall not be granted on an intermittent basis.

A Temporary Leave of Absence Without Pay may be considered in circumstances where: (1) the employee has exhausted FMLA and needs a brief period of additional leave to return to work as certified by the health care provider; (2) the employee is not yet eligible for FMLA due to being employed for less than 12 months and experiences a serious health condition that makes the employee temporarily unable to perform the essential functions of the job; (3) non-job related court appearances; and, (4) new hires with a pre-planned absence during the probationary period that is pre-approved by Human Resources and the Department Director.

A Temporary Leave of Absence shall not be granted solely because an employee has exhausted their paid leave banks, because an employee prefers to "save" their accrued and unused leave for a later date, or because an employee fails to work their regular full schedule.

Requests for a leave of absence without pay shall be made by completing an electronic leave of absence request and shall be for a period determined on a case-by-case basis. However, a leave of absence without pay shall not exceed fifteen (15) days unless approved in writing by the City Manager. The requesting employee shall state the reasons why, in the employee's opinion, the request should be granted, the date the leave is to begin, and the date of the proposed return to work. The City Manager, upon the recommendation of the Director of Human Resources, may approve or disapprove such request at the City's sole discretion and may consider, without limitation, the operational requirements of the Department, budgetary considerations, availability of temporary substitute employees, the performance and attendance record of the employee, and the underlying reason for the request.

Except for leave qualified under the FMLA or ADA, no assurances of reinstatement will be given to an employee who has been granted a leave of absence without pay. If the employee's position is in existence and is vacant, an employee returning from leave shall be eligible for re-employment, provided that the employee is capable of performing the essential functions of the position in accordance with applicable law. In the event that the position previously held by the employee is no longer vacant at the time the employee seeks re-employment, an attempt shall be made to offer employment in a closely-related vacant position for which the employee is qualified.

Employees must exhaust paid leave prior to taking an unpaid leave of absence. During any leave of absence without pay, at the end of the month in which the leave of absence without pay begins, all benefits shall be suspended/terminated until the employee returns to work, unless the employee elects to pay the full premiums for the employee and any dependents and amounts associated with such benefits. Vacation and sick leave benefits will not continue to accrue during unpaid leaves of absences.

Nothing in the foregoing policy is intended to restrict or modify any rights and responsibilities of the City and eligible employees under the Family and Medical Leave Act and/or the Americans with Disabilities Act.

#### **B.** Jury Duty

An employee, regardless of temporary, full-time, or part-time status, may be granted paid leave when called to jury duty. Employees called to jury duty on their regularly scheduled days, will receive their regular salary/pay and benefits for the day(s) in which they serve on jury duty, for up to five (5) days. All other jury duty will be unpaid, unless the employee elects to use vacation leave

If an employee is released from jury duty more than two (2) hours before the end of their scheduled work shift, the employee must report to work that day.

#### C. Court Appearances

#### 1. Job Related

Employees required to appear in court for job-related purposes shall be considered on-duty with the City and shall receive compensation in salary/pay and benefits equal to that associated with the employee's regular duty, as long as they remit the entire amounts paid to them by the Court in connection with such Court appearance to the City. Transportation expenses will be reimbursable in accordance with the City's policies. Any monies received for Court appearances or subpoena fees must be forwarded to the City's Finance Department for payment into the general fund of the City. Under no circumstances may an employee keep subpoena or Court appearance fees, while receiving compensation from the City.

#### 2. Non-Job Related

Employees subpoenaed to Court for any reason unrelated to their employment with the City, for example, divorce proceedings, custody suits, inheritance suits, bankruptcy, traffic violations, *etc.*, or for criminal actions, may use vacation leave, compensatory time or personal leave. If the employee does not have any vacation leave, compensatory time or personal leave, such leaves of absence shall be without pay, if approved by the City Manager, for an employee who is a defendant in a civil or criminal action or plaintiff or complainant in a civil or criminal action not associated with the City's business or affairs.

#### D. Domestic Violence/Sexual Violence Leave

Eligible employees will be granted up to three (3) days of unpaid Domestic Violence/Sexual Violence Leave in any twelve (12) month period, measured forward from the first date domestic/sexual violence leave is used, according to Florida Statute § 741.313, as amended from time to time. The City shall not discriminate against an employee for exercising his or her rights under this policy.

Domestic Violence means any assault, aggravated assault, battery, aggravated battery, sexual assault, sexual battery, stalking, aggravated stalking, kidnapping, false imprisonment, or any criminal offense resulting in physical injury or death of one family or household member by

another family or household member. Domestic violence shall also include any crime the underlying factual basis of which has been found by a court to include an act of domestic violence.

Family or Household Member means spouses, former spouses, persons related by blood or marriage, persons who are presently residing together as if a family or who have resided together in the past as a family, and persons who are parents of a child in common regardless of whether they have been married. Except for persons who have a child in common, the family or household members must be currently residing or have in the past resided together in the same dwelling unit.

Eligible employees may be permitted to use the leave for:

- 1. Seeking an injunction for protection against domestic violence or an junction for protection in cases of repeat violence, dating violence, or sexual violence;
- 2. Obtaining medical care or mental health counseling for the employee and/or family/household member to address physical or psychological injuries resulting from the domestic or sexual violence;
- 3. Obtaining services from a victim-services organization as a result of the act of domestic or sexual violence;
- 4. Making the employee's home secure from the perpetrator of domestic or sexual violence, or to seek new housing to escape the perpetrator;
- 5. Seeking legal assistance or to attend and prepare for court-related proceedings arising from the act of domestic or sexual violence.

Except in cases of imminent danger to the health or safety of the employee, or to the health or safety of a family household member, an employee shall provide notice to Human Resources as soon as possible after the employee learns of the need for the leave. If the leave is foreseeable, such as Court dates, the employee must provide thirty (30) days' notice. The request for leave must be accompanied with sufficient documentation.

To be eligible for Domestic Violence/Sexual Violence Leave, an employee must have been employed by the City for three (3) or more months. Domestic Violence/Sexual Violence Leave shall be granted if the employee or a family or household member of the employee is the victim of domestic/sexual violence and provides sufficient notice and documentation regarding same.

An employee seeking leave under this section must, before receiving the leave, exhaust all paid leave available.

#### E. Military Leave

The City will comply with the requirements of and grant leave in accordance with the Uniform Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), Chapter 115 of the Florida Statutes, as amended from time to time, and Florida Statute § 250.48, as amended from time to time.

#### 1. Training

All commissioned reserve officers or reserve enlisted personnel in the United States military or naval service or members of the National Guard shall receive a leave of absence without loss of vacation leave, pay, time or efficiency rating, on all days during which they are engaged in training ordered under the provisions of the United States military or naval training regulations when assigned to active or inactive duty. In any one annual period, leaves of absence shall not exceed 240 working hours provided that leaves of absence for additional or longer periods of time for assignment to duty functions of a military character shall be granted without pay and without loss of time or efficiency rating.

#### 2. Active Duty Assignments

All officers or enlisted personnel in the National Guard or a reserve component of the Armed Forces of the United States who are granted leave to perform active military service will receive their full pay for the first 30 days of any such leave.

All members of the Florida National Guard who are granted leave to engage in active State duty for a named event, declared disaster, or operation pursuant to Florida Statute §§ 250.28 or 252.36, shall receive their full pay for the first 30 days. The leave of absence with full pay shall not exceed 30 days for each emergency or disaster. Additionally, under Florida law, National Guard Members called to active State duty may not be terminated from employment for a period of one (1) year after the date the employee returns to work, except for cause.

Employees and their dependents will continue to be eligible to participate in the City's health and dental insurance in accordance with the requirements of USERRA.

#### 3. Notice of Leave

Employees seeking to invoke military leave shall provide advance notice to the City unless such notice is precluded by military necessity or otherwise impossible or unreasonable as interpreted under applicable law.

#### 4. **Documentation of Leave**

Employees on military leave for periods of more than 30 days shall provide the City with such documentation that can be used to establish the employee's basic eligibility for protection under USERRA. If the employee is unable to provide satisfactory documentation of military service in excess of 30 days, the City reserves the right to contact the military unit with assistance from the employee to obtain such documentation.

#### 5. Reinstatement after Leave

Employees on military leave will be reinstated with the City in accordance with applicable State law and USERRA. Employees who take a military leave of absence are entitled to any seniority-based rights and benefits that they would have attained had the employee remained continuously employed. The period of military leave is not considered a break in employment unless the employee indicates that he or she will not return from military leave.

Upon the return of any employee from military leave, as described above, the temporary services of any employee filling his or her position shall be terminated or any such temporary employee

moved elsewhere in the City's service, at the City's sole discretion. If an employee called to active duty is a probationary employee, the remaining number of days left on the probationary status will be added following the employee's return to work.

#### 6. Failure to Return after Military Leave

Should the employee not return to employment with the City following said military leave, any vacation or sick leave accrued while on military leave will be subtracted before any allowable payment of any benefits is made in accordance with other provisions of these policies regarding payment of leave balances upon separation from employment.

#### F. Bereavement Leave

Individual

Regular, full-time employees of the City are eligible for bereavement leave in connection with the passing of an immediate family member. Employees will receive twenty-four (24) hours of leave with pay to attend to family matters, arrange and attend funeral services, and other matters relating to the death of an immediate family member. In circumstances in which the funeral is scheduled to take place more than 250 miles from the City, the employee may request up to sixteen (16) additional hours of leave, which can be granted in the City Manager's or Director of Human Resources' sole discretion, with pay which shall not be charged against any other type of leave. The Department Director may approve or deny such request in his or her sole discretion and may request appropriate documentation for the need for funeral leave. Employees who need additional time off, regardless of where the funeral takes place, may apply for such leave under other applicable City policies, such as the use of vacation leave.

For purposes of taking bereavement leave, an "immediate family member" means an employee's spouse, domestic partner, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, child, domestic partner's parents, domestic partner's children, foster child, parent-in-law, aunt, uncle, sibling-in-law, grandparents of spouse or domestic partner, or legal guardian.

The Human Resources Division shall coordinate the expressions of congratulations, get well wishes, and sympathy to individuals in an amount not to exceed \$100.00 and in accordance with the following:

Expression

Event

<u>marviduai</u>	EVEIIL	Expression
Employee or	Birth of a Child, Serious	Flowers or Plant
Board/Committee Member	Illness, or Death	
Immediate Family Member	Death	Flowers or Plant
	Serious Illness	Card
Other Family Member	Death	Card
Retirees/Volunteers	Death	Card

For purposes of authorized expressions of congratulations, get well wishes and sympathy, an Immediate Family Member is defined as: Spouse, Child, Parent, Brother or Sister; and, Other

Family Member is defined as a Grandparent, Grandchild, Mother-in-law, Father-in-law, Brother-in-law or Sister-in-law.

The City may also send appropriate expressions to other individuals such as former board/committee members, and county or other city officials, upon request and authorization of the City Manager, or designee. All associated costs shall be budgeted within Human Resources Division.

Employees, including supervisors and Department Directors, are prohibited from utilizing the City's funds or resources to initiate any other activities designed to communicate the City's condolences to an employee.

Employees are prohibited from individually soliciting donations or accepting donations from individual employees.

#### **G.** Conference and Training Leave

The City may grant conference and training leave with pay, together with the necessary travel expenses to allow employees to attend conferences, schools, and similar events designed to improve their efficiency, if considered to be in the best interest of the City. Employees seeking such leave and expenses must submit a request in advance to the Department Director for prior review and approval by the Finance Director, or in the case of Department Directors, the City Manager.

The following travel shall require approval by the Department Director: Any in-state travel by City employees below the level of Department Director.

The following travel shall require approval by the City Manager: a) Any in-state travel by a Department Director; b) Out-of-state travel by a Department Director, limited to one (1) conference per budget year; c) Out-of-state training for City employees that is deemed necessary to obtain training and/or maintain required certification for position held, provided such training is not available within the State of Florida; d) Data processing training programs offered by City software/ hardware providers for data processing personnel.

The following travel shall require approval by the City Council: Travel requests that have not been included in a Council adopted budget.

#### H. Administrative Leave

Employees may be placed on administrative leave with or without pay pending an investigation that, in the City Manager's sole discretion, requires the employee to be off premises and isolated from the work environment. Where the City Manager is unavailable to make a determination as to the necessity of such leave, a Department Director in consultation with the Director of Human Resources, may temporarily assign an employee to administrative leave with pay until such time the City Manager can make a determination as to the propriety of the leave status.

#### **Chapter 10: Workers' Compensation**

Note: Notwithstanding any provision of this policy, the City and the employee/claimant shall retain all statutory rights under Florida's Workers' Compensation Statute.

#### A. Safe Work Habits

Each City employee is required, as a condition of employment, to develop and exercise safe work habits in the course of their employment, to prevent injuries to themselves, their fellow employees, and to conserve City property and equipment. All employees shall observe the following rules and practices:

- Take every precaution for the prevention of accidents to themselves, their fellow employees and the public.
- Bring any hazardous condition to the attention of their Department Director.
- Be chargeable with responsibility for the proper safe operation of all equipment used in the performance of the employee's duties.
- Observe safety rules, regulations and procedures.
- Wear required safety equipment.
- See to it that the safety equipment they are required to use or wear in the performance of their duties is in proper condition and is used as instructed.

#### B. Reporting

Employees who are injured while performing their duties for the City shall make an immediate report of the injury to their immediate supervisor. Every injury, including those not requiring medical attention, shall be reported in writing to the Department Director by the injured employee's supervisor within twenty-four (24) hours of the injury. Department Directors shall be responsible for notifying Human Resources of all injuries reported by employees under their supervision and shall ensure that proper written reports are prepared and forwarded to appropriate officials.

#### C. Immediate Medical Attention/Care

If an employee is injured to such an extent that the employee requires immediate medical care, employees, supervisors, co-workers, or other witnesses to the accident should call 911 immediately for emergency assistance. If the need is not immediate, the employee should consult Human Resources for additional information regarding the procedure for obtaining medical treatment.

### D. Workers' Compensation Procedure

An employee who sustains a compensable workplace injury may be eligible to receive certain benefits depending on the nature of the injury. Such benefits may include full wages for the first forty (40) hours following injury, replacement of a percentage of weekly wages, permanent impairment benefits, medical treatment and medication, and reemployment services. In certain circumstances, employees may also be released and eligible for "light duty" work that may be assigned by Human Resources in any department at the City. Additional information and guidance regarding the procedure associated with workers' compensation should be obtained from Human Resources.

#### E. Retaliation Prohibited

The City will not terminate, discipline, or take any other adverse personnel action against any employee for filing a claim for workers' compensation benefits in good faith.

## F. Temporary Light Duty

#### 1. Work Related Injuries and Illnesses

If an employee suffers a work-related injury or illness and becomes physically able to perform some useful alternate or transitional duty work, the City will consider temporary alternate or transitional duty work for the employee, if there is such work available and if such work is consistent with the employee's medical limitations. The City is not required to create or provide alternate or transitional duty work. The availability and duration of alternate or transitional duty work is up to the sole and exclusive discretion of the City. If work that is consistent with the employee's medical limitations is available and offered for up to 60 days, the employee must accept and perform such work. Such work can be in any department at the City.

The City provides up to a maximum of twelve (12) months total leave, for the employee to return to the essential duties of their position. If the employee cannot return to full duty upon the expiration of the 12 months, the employee's employment with the City may, in the sole discretion of the City Manager, be terminated.

#### 2. Non-Job Related Injuries or Illnesses

If an employee suffers a non-job related injury or illness and becomes physically able to perform some useful alternate or transitional duty work, the City will consider temporary alternate or transitional duty work for the employee, if there is such work available in the employee's department and if such work is consistent with the employee's medical limitations. The City is not required to create or provide alternate or transitional duty work. The availability and duration of alternate or transitional duty work is up to the sole and exclusive discretion of the City. If work that is consistent with the employee's medical limitations is available and offered, the employee must accept and perform such work. Such work can be in any department at the City.

#### G. Accrued Paid Time Off

Any employee that is out on workers' compensation leave as described herein, shall not accrue any paid time off (vacation ,sick, holiday, or otherwise) except when utilizing the accrued paid leave. Employees shall first use any and all accrued time earned in each payroll period to supplement workers' compensation. Once that accrued time is exhausted in that particular payroll period, the employee shall utilize any and all accrued leave time to supplement their workers' compensation benefit up to the regular wage and not to exceed the regular wage had the employee been working full-time.

#### **Chapter 11: Travel and Vehicles**

#### A. Travel Expenses and Reimbursement

The City authorizes reimbursement for travel expenses for City employees who are required to use their personal vehicle for City business are eligible for mileage reimbursement which shall be paid monthly at the rate authorized by Florida Statutes or the United States Internal Revenue Code, whichever is greater. Employees requesting mileage reimbursement shall be required to file a copy of a Mileage Reimbursement Statement (see Finance or Human Resources for the form) for each calendar month. The Mileage Reimbursement Statement shall be submitted to the Department of Finance by the 10th of each month. Mileage reimbursements shall not be paid for the use of a personal vehicle involved in travel to and from work.

If applicable, the City Manager shall be reimbursed for mileage driven on official business outside Palm Beach County in his/her private vehicle at the rate as established by his/her employment contract. If not rate is established in his/her employment contract, the rate will be as described above. Department Directors shall be authorized mileage reimbursement for mileage driven on official business outside Palm Beach County in their private vehicles at the rate describe above.

The City will maintain a separate Travel and Reimbursement administrative directive policy that will be updated from time to time, as necessary. For more information on the Travel and Reimbursement administrative policy, contact the Finance Department or Human Resources.

#### B. Car Allowance and Vehicle Use

Employees holding the position of Department Director, Public Information Officer, or higher shall be provided a car allowance for use of privately owned automobiles on official business in the amount of \$360, unless a City vehicle is provided to the employee. The City Manager may receive a car allowance greater than \$360 if the City Manager's contract provides for it. Employees receiving an auto allowance for use of their private automobile will be reimbursed at the rate of 15¢ per mile only for travel outside of Palm Beach County. Therefore, those employees shall deduct 25 miles each way (for a total of 50 miles) from their mileage total.

Pursuant to applicable Florida Statutes, such allowance shall be in lieu of the mileage rate reimbursement for business travel within Palm Beach County. Employees accepting the car allowance must ensure business use of the personal vehicle is properly insured at the employee's sole expense and submit proof of such insurance. A car allowance may be considered wages and subject to applicable taxes and withholdings.

Employees who accept a car allowance shall provide the City with a copy of an insurance card evidencing that said vehicle is insured in accordance with Florida Law. Employees who accept the car allowance will be required, as a condition of employment, to provide authorization for the City to perform periodic checks regarding driving history. Such checks regarding driving history will be conducted in accordance with federal and state law. Employees accepting car allowances are required to provide notification of any suspension, revocation, or restriction of their license to the City within one (1) week of such suspension, revocation, or restrictions. In no event may an employee with a suspended, revoked, or restricted license operate a City vehicle or a personal vehicle while on City business.

City vehicles are generally equipped with GPS systems. Employees driving City vehicles must obey all state and local traffic laws including speed limits. Only those employees authorized may operate or drive City vehicles and are expected to drive in a safe and responsible manner. Employees must not operate or drive a City vehicle when his or her ability to do so safely has been impaired by illness, fatigue, injury, or prescription medication.

Fire Department employees that are assigned personal use City vehicles are as follows: Chief, Assistant Chief, Division Chief, Fire Marshal, and Assistant Fire Marshal. These Fire Department employees are permitted to use City vehicles as authorized by the Fire Department's General Orders.

All City employees authorized by their respective Department Director may use City vehicles for official use.

Any employee using a City owned or leased vehicle shall adhere to the City Vehicle and/or Equipment Damages and Repairs Administrative policy. A copy of which can be obtained from Human Resources.

#### **Chapter 12: Employee Training & Development**

#### A. Tuition Reimbursement Program

Subject to employee application and approval by the City, the City will reimburse regular, full-time employees' tuition costs for approved coursework relating to their job duties or leading to a degree relating to their job based on academic performance, according to the following schedule and procedures described below:

- Grade "A" 100%
- Grade "B" 85%
- Grade "C" 75%

Employees receiving a grade of "D" or below will not be eligible to receive tuition reimbursement. The City will not reimburse employees for courses which the employee receives a grade of "PASS" or "FAIL," unless no other grade option is available for the course. In those instances, employees enrolled in classes offering only "Pass/Fail" will be reimbursed 100% for achieving a passing grade.

The total annual amount a non-bargaining, regular, full-time employee may receive per fiscal year from the City for tuition reimbursement may not exceed \$2,000.00 subject to the availability of budgeted funds. Employees covered by a Collective Bargaining Agreement should refer to the limits contained in the CBA. Employees who are eligible for tuition benefits under any other tuition refund or incentive program, policy, or agreement, are not eligible for tuition benefits from the City.

To be eligible to participate in the program, employees must: be full-time non-probationary employees; be in good standing without having received any suspensions during the last twelve (12) months, and have a current performance evaluation that reflects an overall rating of "Meets Expectations" or above if applicable; be in a paid status; pursue job related undergraduate and graduate level courses taken for academic credit leading to Associate's, Bachelor's, Master's, or Doctoral Degrees through accredited colleges and universities accredited by organizations recognized by the U.S. Department of Education and verified http://ope.ed.gov/accreditation/Search.asp.

Employees interested in participating in the City's Tuition Reimbursement Program should submit a Tuition Reimbursement Program application to their Director for review and consideration prior to registering for coursework, with a minimum of 5 days prior to the start of any class. The Department Director will review and complete the form and forward the application to <u>Human Resources</u>, who will coordinate further review and processing of the application. Upon final approval, the Human Resources Division will notify the employee of such approval and forward the original executed and approved application to the employee.

All approved applicants must resubmit the original application form, along with original receipts for tuition books, and original grade report to Human Resources for reimbursement, no later than

30 days from receipt of the grade(s). Reimbursements will be processed and paid through payroll and included in each employee's direct deposit.

Subject to the fiscal year maximum established herein, reimbursement shall be the actual tuition cost, excluding books and other supplies, based on the established Florida resident credit hour rate for undergraduate or graduate courses in the State of Florida university system attended by the employee. If the Employee did not attend a college within the State of Florida university system, but did attend an accredited college as required by this policy, the City shall reimburse at the rate established for Palm Beach State College or the accredited college the employee attended, whichever is less.

Employees who are candidates for certificates or degrees must also submit a statement from their Academic Department representative, indicating the title of the degree or certificate sought and the field of specialization.

Employees receiving tuition reimbursement from the City will be obligated to remain employed by the City for a minimum of three (3) years from the date of tuition reimbursement. Employees who leave the City's service, whether voluntarily or involuntarily (e.g., performance or disciplinary-based terminations), within three (3) years following tuition reimbursement will be obligated to refund the tuition benefits provided by the City through deductions from their final payroll check on the following schedule:

Within 1<sup>st</sup> year 100%

Within 2<sup>nd</sup> year 75%

Within 3<sup>rd</sup> year 50%

#### **Chapter 13: Vacation Leave**

Vacation leave is provided by the City for regular, full-time employees so that they may have paid time off from the performance of their duties for rest and relaxation. All vacation leave requests must be approved in advance of the leave, by the employee's Department Director based on the operating requirements of the City. Vacation hours will begin to accrue on the first day of employment. As with all vacation requests, vacation requests made by employees within their probationary period are subject to review and approval by their Department Director.

#### Α. Accrual of Leave

An employee is eligible for vacation leave with pay the 1<sup>st</sup> payroll after 6 months of continuous service. Vacation days are accrued on a bi-weekly basis for purposes of leave due. In computing vacation leave earned, only those months shall be counted during which an employee has worked three-quarters or more of his regular workdays.

Completed Years of Service	Number of Hours Accruable Per Year
1 <sup>st</sup> payroll after 6 months of	80 hours
employment-5	

1 payron and 0 months of	oo nours
employment-5	
6-10	120 hours
11-15	160 hours
16 or more	200 hours

Vacation leave may be accumulated up to a maximum of 240 hours of leave time. Each October 1, accruals that exceed 240 hours are adjusted downward to the maximum of 240 hours and any accrued and unused leave in excess of 240 hours at that time is irrevocably forfeited. When the requirements of an employee's job prevent the taking of vacation leave so that such leave accumulates in excess of 240 hours, the period of time during which such excess leave must be used may be extended upon the approval of the City Manager.

#### **Payment of Leave Upon Separation** В.

Upon separation from City service for any reason, an employee shall be paid the remaining balance of accrued and unused vacation leave as of the final date of employment. Payment shall be made on the next regular pay date following the final date of employment. In no event shall such leave payment exceed 240 hours.

While probationary employees accrue vacation leave during the probationary period, such employees are not eligible for payout of unused, accrued vacation, regardless of the reason underlying their separation and such leave is automatically forfeited.

#### C. Use of Leave

Employees must take a mandatory forty (40) hours of vacation leave each fiscal year. However, such mandatory leave does not have to be on consecutive business days.

Vacation leave must be requested, scheduled by, and approved by the Department Director or designee as far in advance as possible, but not less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance of the time requested, except in cases of emergency. In addition to using vacation leave for rest and relaxation, employees may also use vacation leave for the following reasons, among others, subject to approval by an employee's Department Director or designee:

- Absences occasioned by illness or injury of a member of the employee's family;
- Absences where personal obligations must be addressed during the employee's assigned hours of work;
- Sick leave, where regular accumulated sick leave days have been exhausted by the employee; however, sick leave may not be used for vacation leave.

Employees who have submitted their resignation shall not be permitted to use Vacation Leave during the notice period provided for in the resignation. However, the Director of Human Resources has the discretion to waive such prohibition in the unique circumstance where such dates were pre-approved before the resignation was contemplated or submitted.

#### D. Financial Hardship Vacation Buy-Back

Non-probationary, full-time employees experiencing financial hardship may submit a request to sell up to 160 hours of accrued and unused vacation leave to Human Resources for consideration by the City Manager, provided the employee has met, or will meet, the requirement to take a minimum of forty (40) hours of vacation leave each year. This policy shall not be construed to allow for any type of advance on wages or a loan against future wages.

"Financial Hardship" is an immediate and heavy financial need of the employee, which includes the need of the employee's spouse or dependent. Certain expenses are deemed to be immediate and heavy, including: (1) certain medical expenses; (2) costs relating to the purchase of a principal residence; (3) tuition and related educational fees and expenses; (4) payments necessary to prevent eviction from, or foreclosure on, a principal residence; (5) burial or funeral expenses; and (6) certain expenses for the repair of damage to the employee's principal residence. A financial need may be immediate and heavy even if it was reasonably foreseeable or voluntarily incurred by the employee.

Such request must be on the prescribed application form and contain a detailed explanation of the hardship condition including backup documentation as to the amount needed. All requests shall be subject to budgetary constraints of the department. The employee shall submit the form to the Department Director, who shall assess the request and make a recommendation to the Finance Director. The Finance Director and Director of Human Resources shall review the information provided in total, including the recommendation of the Department Director, and shall make a recommendation to the City Manager.

In granting or denying the request, the City Manager may consider whether the employee is on a performance improvement plan and whether the employee has received disciplinary action within the previous six (6) months, and other relevant factors.

All buyback payments are subject to applicable withholding and taxes.

Application for Vacation Hardship Buy-Back is strictly limited to one time per fiscal year.

#### **Chapter 14:** Sick Leave

#### A. Sick Leave General

Sick leave is provided by the City for regular, full-time employees so that they will have paid time off when they are unable to report for duty by reason of illness, injury, and/or periods of stress, occasioned by reasons other than causes arising out of employment with the City. Sick leave may be used in the case of:

- Actual disability arising from illness and/or non-work related injury;
- Medical, dental, or eye treatment or examination for which arrangements could not be made outside the employee's assigned hours of duty;
- The care of an employee's spouse, domestic partner, parent, grandparent, legal guardian, sibling, child, domestic partner's child, parent-in-law, or domestic partner's parent experiencing a serious illness and/or injury, up to and including three (3) consecutive working days. The relations set forth above shall include those arising from marriage or adoption, or guardianship established by Court action.

Sick leave with pay shall be granted to regular employed full-time employees at the rate of 8 hours for each completed month of service. On the date when the employee becomes eligible to take paid sick leave, he or she shall be credited with the appropriate amount of sick leave. Thereafter, earned sick leave will be credited on a bi-weekly basis. In order to accrue sick leave for a month's service, an employee must have worked at least three-quarters of the days or time scheduled to be worked during that month. For purposes of this subsection, days worked shall include vacation leave or approved leave with pay.

Employees may accumulate up to 960 hours of sick leave. For sick leave accrued above 480 hours, employees may opt to receive compensation at their normal hourly rate, once per fiscal year, for one-half of the total hours accrued above 480 hours. For each half-day of pay (4 hours), one full day of sick leave (8 hours) will be deducted from the employee's accumulated sick leave time.

Upon resignation or retirement in good standing, employees who provide the City with a two (2) weeks written notice shall be paid at their then regular hourly rate for the portion of their accrued sick leave as stated below, not to exceed the maximum 960 hours. When it is determined to be in the best interest of the City, the City Manager may waive the requirement for two weeks' notice. Sick leave accrued shall be forfeited if the employee is discharged or is not in good standing at the time of termination.

PERSONNEL	YEARS OF SERVICE	% OF PAYOUT
GENERAL EMPLOYEES Hired before 10/16/06		
and	10 years + in good standing	100%
BARGAINING UNIT EMPLOYEES Hired before 6/28/00		
BARGAINING UNIT EMPLOYEES	Retirement*	100%
Hired after 6/28/00	10 years	50%
and	5-10 years	25%
GENERAL EMPLOYEES Hired after 10/16/06	0-5 years	0%

<sup>\*</sup>When an employee is vested and applies for a retirement benefit under the City's retirement plan.

Should an employee in good standing and eligible for sick leave passes away prior to retirement, payment for accrued sick leave will be made to the employee's designated retirement plan beneficiary, or in the absence of a designated beneficiary, to the employee's next-of-kin.

In order to receive approval for requested sick leave, employees may be required to provide a physician's certification as to the nature of and probable duration of the need for any use of sick leave. Sick leave may be approved for up to three (3) consecutive working days by a Department Director or his or her designee without requiring a physician's certification. A sick leave request of more than three (3) consecutive working days may require a physician's certification. Additionally, the certification of a licensed physician as to the nature of the condition, and as to whether or not the employee is in a condition to return to his or her regular duties without danger to the employee or others may be required in the discretion of the Department Director and the Director of Human Resources.

To be placed on daily sick leave, an employee is responsible for notifying his or her Department Director or designee. Unless an emergency condition exists, as determined by the City, an employee shall provide notice as soon as possible, but not later than one (1) hour before the start of the employee's assigned hours of duty. The employee must provide the reason for the absence, the probable duration, and other related information. Where appropriate notification and information is not provided by the employee, the Department Director or his or her designee shall not authorize payment of sick leave. Such absence shall be recorded as an unauthorized absence without pay.

General employees may use up to 24 hours annually of accrued Sick Leave as Personal Leave. Personal Leave shall be taken in two (2) hour increments. Personal Leave must be approved by the Department Director or designee and shall not cause overtime. The 24 hours of converted time shall be treated as Sick Leave for overtime purposes and shall not be considered actual hours worked for purposes of calculating overtime if used within one working day (before or after) any additional hours worked by an employee.

#### B. Voluntary Sick Leave Donation Program

The City's Sick Leave Donation Program is voluntary and is designed to extend paid benefits to employees who experience a medical emergency that will require the prolonged absence of the employee from duty and will result in a substantial loss in income to the employee because the employee will have exhausted all paid leave.

The following sets forth the eligibility requirements associated with receipt of Sick Leave Donations:

- The employee must be eligible for Family and Medical Leave Act leave.
- The employee must have exhausted his or her vacation and sick leave benefits.
- The employee must complete a Certification of Healthcare Provider, as required under the FMLA.
- The donating and receiving employee must both be either non-bargaining or within any bargaining unit.
- The employee must obtain and fully complete a Sick Leave Donation Application from the Human Resources Division, articulating the reasons why the Sick Leave Donations are appropriate. Employees are prohibited from personally lobbying other employees to request donations as all communications will be issued from the Human Resources Department.
- The employee will only be eligible to receive such donations during the period of any unpaid FMLA leave. As such, the maximum amount of leave an employee may receive is the number of hours necessary to cover the FMLA leave, less any accrued and unused sick and vacation leave balances. As such, the maximum is 480 hours less any available accrued and unused sick and vacation leave balances.
- In order to be eligible to receive Sick Leave Donations, an employee may not be receiving income benefits from other sources, such as Short-Term Disability and Long-Term Disability, or workers' compensation.
- Sick Leave Donation time must generally be taken in full-workday increments.

The following sets forth certain requirements relating to employees contributing Sick Leave Donations:

- The donating employee must complete a Sick Leave Donation Request/Authorization and submit it to Human Resources.
- The donating employee may not designate a specific individual for whom the Sick Leave Donation will be provided. Rather, any such Sick Leave Donations will be placed into the bank for equal distribution.
- The donating employee may only donate a maximum of forty (40) hours of accrued, unused sick leave per fiscal year. Such amount may not exceed more leave that than they normally accrue during the fiscal year.
- The donating employee must have at least eighty (80) hours of sick leave remaining in the employee's leave bank after the donation is made to ensure the donating employee's own absences will be covered in the event of unexpected illness.
- Once Sick Leave hours have been donated, they may not be returned, but will remain in the bank for future use.
- Sick Leave Donations must be made in minimum of four (4) hour increments.

Applications for Sick Leave Donation will be reviewed by Human Resources and submitted to the City Manager for consideration and action. The City Manager, in consultation with the Director of Human Resources, shall make the final decision as to whether the application will be approved or denied.

Sick Leave Donation requests and receipt of Sick Leave Donations will be treated in an appropriate manner, respecting the privacy of the recipient employee, as well as the donating employee.

Donated Sick Leave will be provided to a recipient employee on an hour for hour basis.

Donated Sick Leave will be processed through payroll as income to the recipient employee. Further, requests and/or approvals for Sick Leave Donations in any amount are not guaranteed and are subject to employee donations. Again, participation is not required or expected by the City and is completely voluntary.

Employees interested in participating the Sick Leave Donation Program, either as a recipient or as a donor, should contact Human Resources.

#### **Chapter 15: Holidays**

#### A. Observed Holidays

The following shall be official City holidays during each calendar year:

•	New Year's Day	January 1
•	Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day	3rd Monday in January
•	President's Day	3 <sup>rd</sup> Monday in February
•	Memorial Day	Last Monday in May
•	Juneteenth	June 19
•	Independence Day	July 4
•	Labor Day	1st Monday in September
•	Veteran's Day	November 11
•	Thanksgiving Day	4th Thursday in November
•	Friday following Thanksgiving	
•	Christmas Eve	December 24
•	Christmas Day	December 25
•	Floating Holiday	Date approved by supervisor

If a recognized holiday falls on a Saturday, the designated holiday shall be on the previous Friday. If a recognized holiday falls on a Sunday, the designated holiday shall be on the Monday following the holiday. In cases where Christmas Eve and Christmas day fall on Friday/Saturday, Saturday/Sunday, or on Sunday/Monday, the holidays shall be observed by the City as follows:

<u>Christmas Eve (actual)</u>	<u>Christmas Day (actual)</u>	Observed as:
Friday	Saturday	Thursday and Friday
Saturday	Sunday	Friday and Monday
Sunday	Monday	Monday and Tuesday

The City Manager, in conjunction with the Department Director, retains ultimate discretion as to whether employees will be required to work on a particular holiday based on the operational needs of the City.

The Floating Holiday shall not carry over from year to year and shall not be paid out at separation of employment for any reason. If the Floating Holiday is not used during the calendar year or is not used prior to separation during any given calendar year, it is forfeited.

#### B. Holiday Pay

Regular, full-time employees are eligible for the receipt of paid holidays as set forth below.

Generally, regular, full-time employees will not be required to work on a recognized holiday and will receive their regular rate of pay for the recognized holiday. In some cases, due to departmental requirements, employees may be scheduled and required to work on a holiday. Non-exempt employees assigned to work on a holiday shall receive eight (8) or ten (10) hours of holiday pay based on their regularly scheduled work hours in lieu of a day off. Additionally, non-exempt non-bargaining employees assigned to work on a holiday shall be paid at 1.5 times the regular rate of pay for actual hours worked on the designated holiday.

Employees calling in sick the day before or the day after a holiday will not be compensated for the holiday. At the Department Director's discretion, with the Director of Human Resources approval employees may be compensated for the holiday if it is deemed that the employee was legitimately ill. Human Resources may require documentation from the employee's health care provider.

Eligible employees on paid leave shall be granted holiday pay in lieu of a paid leave day. Eligible employees on unpaid leave, suspended without pay, temporary employees, and part-time employees are not eligible for holiday pay.

Regular, full-time employees who do not work on a designated holiday by virtue of a modified work schedule necessitated by the requirements of their position will be credited eight (8) hours of vacation pay for the designated holiday.

#### **Chapter 16: Family and Medical Leave Act Leave**

#### A. General Policy Statement

Eligible employees will be granted up to 12 weeks of unpaid family, medical, or exigency leave during a 12-month period in accordance with the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA). Eligible employees will be granted up to 26 workweeks of unpaid leave to care for a covered member or veteran of the Armed Forces, including a member or veteran of the National Guard or Reserves, who is a family member or next of kin, during a single 12-month period in accordance with the FMLA as amended from time to time. The 12-month period is measured backward from the first date an employee uses FMLA leave. However, in the case of caring for a service member, where up to 26 weeks of leave may be taken, the 12-month period is measured forward from the first date of leave.

During this leave, an eligible Employee is entitled to continued group health plan coverage as if the Employee had continued to work, however the employee will not accrue vacation/sick leave during unpaid FMLA leave. At the conclusion of the leave, subject to some exceptions, an Employee generally has a right to return to the same or an equivalent position.

#### B. Notice

Employees must provide the Human Resources Department with no less than thirty (30) days' notice of their intent to take FMLA leave when the leave is foreseeable. If such leave is unforeseeable, the employee shall provide notice as soon as possible after the employee learns of the need for the leave. Employees on approved family leave, medical leave, exigency leave, or service member leave under this policy, with or without pay, must make at least monthly contact with Human Resources during their absence and must provide Human Resources with proper documentation, as determined by Human Resources after each visit to a medical professional for a status update. Family Medical Leave under this policy runs concurrently with all other paid or unpaid leaves of absence.

#### C. Eligibility

To be eligible for FMLA leave, exigency leave, or service member leave, an employee must have been employed by the City for at least twelve (12) months and must have worked for at least 1,250 hours during the previous twelve (12)-month period. Employees must also work at a site with 50 or more City employees or where 50 or more City employees are located within 75 miles of the worksite.

In addition to the foregoing eligibility requirements, the employee must also show that the reason for the leave falls into one of the following categories:

- 1. For the birth of a son or daughter, and to care for the newborn child;
- 2. For the placement of a child with the employee for adoption or foster care, and to care for the newly placed child;
- 3. To care for an immediate family member (spouse, child, or parent) with a serious health condition;

- 4. When the employee is unable to work because of a serious health condition;
- 5. To care for an injured or ill covered service member or covered veteran. The employee must be the family member or the next of kin (nearest blood relative) of the covered service member or covered veteran; and
- 6. To address any qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that a spouse, child, or parent who is also a military member in the National Guard or Reserves or a regular component of the Armed Forces when the military member is on covered active duty or called to covered active duty status and deployed to a foreign country.

#### **D.** Medical Certifications

The employee shall provide Human Resources with complete and sufficient certification of the need for leave from the health care provider of the employee, family member, or covered service or military member within fifteen (15) days of notification of the need for leave.

The employee will be required to submit a recertification in certain circumstances. Employees bear the entire cost of obtaining all certifications required by the City.

The City may require, at its own expense that the employee obtain the opinion of a second health care provider designated or approved by the City.

Employees must provide complete and sufficient certifications and documentation to Human Resources as required. Employees failing to provide complete and sufficient certifications as required, and after any opportunity to correct, may be denied the taking of FMLA leave. Failure to provide any certification may result in denial of leave under the FMLA policy. Employees who fail to provide requested documentation of the reason for an absence from work may be subject to disciplinary action up to, and including, termination.

#### E. Intermittent or Reduced Work Week Leave

Leave can be taken intermittently or on a reduced work schedule when medically necessary for a serious health condition or as a result of a qualifying exigency. However, the employee must provide a certification from the health care provider stating that the employee's reduced work schedule is medically necessary and the expected duration and schedule of the intermittent leave or reduced work schedule when intermittent leave is medically necessary.

If an employee requests intermittent leave or leave on a reduced work schedule that is foreseeable based on a planned medical treatment, the employee:

- 1. May be required to transfer temporarily to an available alternative position (for which he or she is qualified) which has an equivalent pay and benefits and which better accommodates recurring periods of leave than the regular position of the employee.
- 2. Must make reasonable efforts to schedule the treatment so as not to unduly disrupt operations.

#### F. Health Insurance during FMLA Leave

During approved FMLA leave, the City is required to maintain group health insurance benefits. Maintenance of such group health insurance requires that the employee continue to contribute any co-payment and his or her normal portion of the insurance premiums to the City at the same time payroll deductions would normally be made in order to maintain insurance coverage. If the employee's payment is more than 30 days late, the City may discontinue health insurance coverage upon notice to the employee. To the extent an employee's FMLA leave is paid through available accrued leave balances, the employee's portion of premiums will be collected through payroll deductions. For details on continuation of health insurance benefits for dependents, please contact the Human Resources Department.

#### G. Return from FMLA

Employees returning from an FMLA leave are required to submit a fitness for duty certification from their healthcare provider prior to returning to work demonstrating the employee can perform the essential functions of the job. Failure to provide that certification may delay the employee's reinstatement.

After the beginning of the leave, an employee may discover that circumstances have changed and the amount of leave time originally anticipated is either reduced or needs to be extended. In foreseeable circumstances where it is necessary to change leave time, the employee is required to give the City notice within two (2) business days.

The City will provide a reasonable break time for an employee to express breast milk for her nursing child for one (1) year after the child's birth each time the employee has need to express the milk. The City will provide a place, other than a bathroom, that is shielded from view and free from intrusion from coworkers and the public, which may be used by an employee to express breast milk.

An employee who accepts other employment during FMLA leave, or who fails to return to work on the next regularly scheduled work day following the expiration of the leave, or who does not accept a position offered by the City when returning from leave, will be separated from their employment. Employees are prohibited from performing any work during FMLA leave, for the City or any other entity or individual, and may be terminated immediately upon discovery of same.

Employees who give notice to the City that they do not intend to return to work upon conclusion of FMLA leave will be considered to have voluntarily resigned.

#### H. Concurrent Paid and Other Leave

The City requires that employees use their accrued paid leave, such as sick or vacation leave or compensatory time, concurrently with their FMLA leave. Similarly, other leave occasioned by, for example, workers' compensation injury or disability will run concurrently with an employee FMLA entitlement.

Questions on Family and Medical Leave can be directed to the Director of Human Resources.

In the event the requirements under the Family and Medical Leave Act are amended, such requirements shall control.

#### **Chapter 17: Drug-Free Workplace Policy**

The City of Greenacres has a longstanding commitment to provide a safe and productive work environment consistent with the standards of the community in which we serve. The use of illegal/illicit drugs by City employees, on or off the job, and the state of being under the influence of drugs or alcohol while at work are inconsistent with the law-abiding behavior expected by all citizens and the special trust placed in City employees as public servants. Alcohol and drug use and abuse poses a threat to the health and safety of the City of Greenacres employees and to the security of the City's property and facilities. The City of Greenacres is committed to the elimination of drug and alcohol use and abuse in the workplace.

### A. Policy

This policy outlines the practice and procedure designed to establish the City as a Drug Free Workplace.

- 1. It is a violation of this policy for any employee to use, possess, sell, trade, offer for sale, or offer to buy illegal drugs or otherwise engage in the illegal use of drugs on the job;
- 2. It is a violation of this policy for anyone to report to work under the influence of illegal drugs or alcohol;
- 3. It is a violation of this policy for anyone to use prescription drugs illegally. (However, nothing in this policy precludes the appropriate use of legally prescribed medications);
- 4. It is a violation of this policy to unlawfully manufacture, distribute, dispense, possess, or use controlled substances in the workplace;
  - 5. It is a condition of employment to abide by the Drug-Free Workplace Policy;
- 6. Violations of this policy subject all employees to disciplinary action up to and including immediate termination.

The goal of this policy is to balance our respect for individual privacy with the need to maintain a safe, productive and drug-free environment. The intent of this policy is to offer a helping hand to those who need it, while sending a clear message that the illegal use of drugs and the abuse of alcohol are incompatible with employment at the City. In the event the provisions of this policy conflict with a collective bargaining agreement, the collective bargaining agreement will prevail.

#### B. Authority for Drug & Alcohol Testing

The City has implemented this policy in accordance with the program requirements outlined in Florida Statute § 440.102.

#### C. Full Drug-Free Work Place Policy

The entire Drug-Free Work Place Policy of the City of Greenacres is attached to this Handbook and incorporated herein as Appendix "A."

D. Effective Date of Drug-Free Workplace Policy
This Drug-Free Workplace is effective immediately upon adoption and supersedes any prior policies.

#### **Chapter 18:** Health and Safety

#### A. Safety Generally

The City Manager, in cooperation with Department Directors, shall be responsible for the development and administration of programs providing for the general health and safety of City employees.

The City shall make appropriate efforts to promote among employees and in the departments appropriate standards of safety and good health. All employees shall be responsible for performing work assignments in a safe manner. Prime consideration shall always be given to safety in all work situations.

Supervisors and Department Directors shall:

- 1. Be responsible for the establishment and implementation of appropriate safety standards within their respective activity areas, for periodically reviewing accident frequencies to determine and correct causes, and for identifying and correcting safety hazards.
- 2. Ensure that all new employees, including seasonal, temporary, and/or part-time employees are thoroughly advised, instructed, and supervised in necessary safety policies, practices, and procedures.
- 3. Implement and actively support the City's safety program.
- 4. Arrange and conduct safety meetings, inspections, and training sessions.
- 5. Provide and/or require equipment necessary to adequately protect the health and safety of employees.
- 6. Immediately investigate accidents, and prepare all necessary forms for documentation and future prevention of on-the-job injuries and hazardous conditions.

#### All employees shall:

- 1. Be thoroughly familiar with and comply with safety requirements and practices applicable to their respective work assignments.
- 2. Wear appropriate safety and/or protective gear as applicable to the work assignment.
- 3. Actively report unsafe or potentially dangerous conditions and accidents or injuries to their supervisor immediately.

Employees may be subject to disciplinary action for failure to comply with health and safety workplace requirements.

#### **B.** Clean Indoor Air Policy

All individuals are prohibited from smoking, vaping, or using tobacco products in any enclosed indoor workplace at the City in accordance with Florida law. Enclosed indoor workplaces include any place that is predominantly or totally bounded on all sides and above by physical barriers, which includes City vehicles. "Predominately" generally refers to coverage of more than 50%. Employees unsure of an acceptable location for smoking should consult their supervisor.

Employees who witness individuals smoking, vaping, or using tobacco products in an enclosed indoor workplace must request the individual immediately extinguish the smoking device. If the employee is not comfortable confronting another employee or a citizen about the violation, he or she should immediately seek assistance from his or her supervisor or any member of management if the supervisor is unavailable.

To ensure a professional appearance, employees are also prohibited from smoking, vaping, using tobacco products, or using simulated smoking devices on City property during working hours or while on paid time, as well as while using City vehicles.

Employees who violate this policy may be subject to disciplinary action up to, and including, immediate termination.

The City will not retaliate against any employee who makes good faith reports of suspected violations of this policy.

For purposes of this policy, "tobacco products" include, but are not limited to cigarettes, cigars, chewing tobacco, and pipe smoking. A "simulated smoking device" includes, but is not limited to, electronic cigarettes, electronic pipes, or other devices intended to resemble or having the appearance of a cigarette, cigar, pipe, or other tobacco product. "Vape" or "vaping" means to inhale or exhale vapor produced by a vapor-generating electronic device or to possess a vapor-generating electronic device while that device is actively employing an electronic, a chemical, or a mechanical means designed to produce vapor or aerosol from a nicotine product or any other substance.

## C. Hurricane & Emergency Preparedness

In the case of an approaching hurricane or similar emergency, certain employees may be required to continue to perform work for the City ("Essential Personnel"), while other employees may be excused from work ("Non-essential Personnel").

The following sets forth an overview of compensation in the event the City Council declares a State of Emergency due to a hurricane or similar emergency.

During the declaration of emergency, any approved leave time may be cancelled at the City Manager's (or designee's) sole discretion. If the employee is already on vacation or using leave time when the emergency is declared, the employee must make every effort to check in with his or her supervisor for further instructions and may be required to report back to work. The City Manager or designee must approve all regular and overtime hours once the state of emergency has been declared. The City Manager, in consultation with the Fire Chief, will determine actual lockdown hours for purposes of this policy.

## FEMA Requirements

For purposes of reporting and/or reimbursement by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), all hours compensated during a declared emergency will be tracked both electronically and on designated timesheets as directed by the City Manager or designee. Other requirements apply, as determined by the City Manager.

## Requirements

Based on the type of activation, the City may need staff before, during, and after the emergency event. Typically, those who are required to report during the event will be notified prior to its start, however, this may not always be possible. All employees must return to work as instructed by their supervisor and/or via an announcement posted on the City's website or social media. Failure to return to work on the expected return to work day, shall be grounds for discipline, up to and including termination of employment.

# Emergency Pay for Non-Exempt Staff

Non-exempt employees who are required to work during a declared emergency and are scheduled to be in "lockdown" at the direction of the City Manager shall be compensated with regular pay for their regularly scheduled hours during the lockdown period. In addition, for the time actually worked during the lockdown period within the declared emergency time frame, non-exempt employees shall receive time and one-half their regular rate of pay. To the extend applicable there will be no duplication or pyramiding of overtime or premium pay for the same hours worked, including, but not limited to call back and standby pay.

Non-exempt full time employees who are not required to work during the declared emergency, may be released from duty and will be paid regular pay for the declared emergency time frame that City offices are closed due to the emergency event.

Employees with work schedules who have normal scheduled days off during the declared emergency time frame, will not be paid for those hours. Employees with previously scheduled and approved leave time who are not required to work will be paid according to the applicable leave time policy. Emergency hours paid for time not worked will not count toward overtime calculations.

Non-exempt part time employees who are scheduled to work but are not required to work during the declared emergency may be released from duty and will be paid regular pay for the declared emergency time frame, based on their normal workday schedule.

Seasonal and temporary part time employees and interns will only be paid for hours worked during a declared emergency.

## Emergency Pay for Exempt Staff

Exempt employees who are required to work during the declared emergency and scheduled to be in "lockdown" shall, in addition to receiving the same compensation as other exempt employees who are not required to work during the declared emergency, be compensated one (1) hour of straight time for each hour of time worked within the same pay week. "Straight time" for exempt employees is defined as the annual salary divided by 2080, even though such salary is designed to cover all hours worked, including hours worked over 40.

Exempt employees will also receive compensation of one and one-half hours of pay for each hour of time worked within the same pay week when they perform duties that are directly related to emergency preparation and recovery efforts outside the emergency declaration period and outside their normally-scheduled work shift (which includes all hours over 40 worked within the same pay

week). The City Manager or designee will determine the emergency preparation and postemergency recovery periods for purposes of this policy.

Exempt employees who are not required to work during the declared emergency may be released from duty and shall be paid regular pay for the declared emergency time frame that City offices are closed due to the emergency event.

# Conclusion of Emergency

Once the hurricane or emergency has passed, a press release through the news media, City webpage, or through the Department Director will be made advising Non-essential Personnel to report for work. Non-essential Personnel are required to report to work upon notification from the Department Director or designee where such notice occurs prior to the publication of the press release. At that time, employees should call their respective supervisor to make every reasonable effort to report to work to relieve Essential Personnel who have worked through the hurricane or emergency, and assist in the cleanup/recovery process, as directed/authorized.

## Exemptions and Paid Leave

Essential Personnel who are scheduled to work during the hurricane or emergency, but who call in sick, will be required to provide medical documentation for the absence in order to receive paid sick leave. Essential Personnel who call in for a personal reason may be excused at the discretion of the Department Director. Such employee will be required to use sick or vacation leave for this time off, if the employee has such leave available. Otherwise, it will be unpaid.

In the case of an approaching storm, it may be necessary for the City to revoke previously approved vacation leave in order for employees to assist with City storm-related preparations.

All accruals for vacation and sick will run according to Personnel Policies and Procedures.

## Payroll Adjustments

During a state of emergency the City may process payroll based on estimated scheduled hours. Any adjustments in pay, if required, may be made in a subsequent pay period. Full time employees may be paid for their regularly scheduled hours based on their standard workweek. Regular part time employees may be paid based on their standard schedule. Seasonal and temporary part time employees and interns will only be paid for hours worked.

## **Holidays**

If the declared emergency occurs during a City-observed holiday and the employee is required to work, the employee will receive emergency pay as outlined above; and in lieu of the holiday, the employee shall receive one (1) Administrative Day per City-observed holiday worked.

# **Chapter 19: Workplace Violence**

## A. Prohibited Conduct

Threats, threatening language, or any other acts of aggression or violence made toward or by any City employee or visitor **WILL NOT BE TOLERATED**. Examples of threatening language or behavior include any verbal or physical harassment or abuse, any attempt at intimidating or instilling fear in others, menacing gestures, unlawful possession and display of weapons, stalking, or any other hostile, aggressive, injurious, or destructive action undertaken for the purpose of intimidation.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, employees and visitors are prohibited from possessing or carrying weapons on City premises. Weapons shall include, but are not limited to, firearms, ammunition, knives, clubs, brass knuckles, explosives or destructive devices, chemical weapons, stun guns, or other objects that may be considered weapons as defined in Section 790.001, Florida Statutes.

# **B.** Procedures for Reporting a Threat

All potentially dangerous situations, including threats by co-workers, should be reported immediately to Human Resources and, if appropriate, to law enforcement. Reports of threats may be maintained confidential to the extent maintaining confidentiality does not impede our ability to investigate and respond to the complaints. All threats will be promptly investigated. All employees must cooperate with all investigations. No employee will be subjected to retaliation, intimidation, or disciplinary action as a result of reporting a threat in good faith under this policy.

If the City determines, after an appropriate, good faith investigation, that someone has violated this policy, it will take prompt and appropriate corrective action, up to and including termination of the transgressor and notification of the appropriate authorities.

An employee who is the recipient of a threat made by an outside party, should follow the steps detailed in this policy. It is important for the City to be aware of any potential danger in the work area. The City is committed to taking effective measures to protect everyone from the threat of a violent act by an employee or by anyone else.

Employees are expected and encouraged to exercise reasonable judgment in identifying potentially dangerous situations.

In an emergency situation (e.g. assault, direct threat of immediate violence, suicide attempt, or any crime in progress) employees shall call 911.

Employees who have concerns about their personal safety in the work environment but have not received a threat, should report the concerns to the Department Director. Under no circumstances are employees permitted to carry weapons in violation of this policy.

# **Chapter 20: Outside Employment**

The City of Greenacres strongly discourages, but does not prohibit, outside employment with the following prohibitions:

#### A. General Prohibitions

Outside employment is prohibited when the work of the outside employment:

- 1. Is conducted on City time.
- 2. Is conducted while on paid leave including workers' compensation leave, disability leave, or sick leave.
- 3. Interferes with working hours or overtime requirements of the employee's position, including mandatory work during emergencies.
- 4. Involves the use of City uniforms, facilities, equipment or supplies of any kind.
- 5. May reasonably be construed by the public to be an official act of the City, or that a conflict of interest exists.
- 6. Reflects adversely upon the employee or the City.
- 7. Is in conflict with the employee's position with the City. This shall include work which an employee would be expected to do as part of his/her normal duties; work requiring approval or review of the City, or work which would tend to influence the exercise of improper judgment on any matter coming before the employee in the course of his/her City employment.
- 8. Inhibits the employee's ability to perform their job with the City.

# B. Conflicts Prohibited By State or Local Laws

Employees may hold outside employment as long as they meet the performance standards of their position and they receive advance, written approval by the immediate supervisor, the Department Director, the Director of Human Resources, and the City Manager. Employees who have outside employment are required to complete an "Outside Employment Authorization" form in addition to the "Commission on Ethics Employee Conflict of Interest Waiver." Certain restrictions apply including:

- 1. Neither the employee nor any relative may work in a City department which enforces, oversees or administers any contract or transaction with his or her outside employer;
- 2. The outside employment will not interfere or otherwise impair his/her independent judgment or the performance of public duties for the City;
- 3. Neither the employee nor any relative is allowed to participate in determining the requirements or awarding of any contract to the employee's outside employer.
- 4. The employee's public job responsibilities and job description will not require him/her to be involved in any contract in any way including, but not limited to, its enforcement, oversight, administration, amendment, extension, termination or forbearance with the outside employer.

5. The employee has complied with all other City policy requirements.

Outside employment that constitutes a conflict or could potentially be perceived to conflict with the Code of Ethics Policy, state or local ethics laws and ordinances, or that could impact or potentially impact negatively on the City or its reputation, is prohibited.

Employees may hold outside jobs as long as no conflict exists, the outside employment has been approved in writing before beginning outside employment, the performance standards of their official duties with the City are met, and outside employment is not conducted during paid or unpaid leave time provided by the City.

# C. Outside Employment Disclosure and Approval Process

All employees must advise the City in writing whether they are engaged in outside employment, or as requested by the City from time to time.

Employees seeking to engage in outside employment must submit an Outside Employment Request and Disclosure Form along with the Palm Beach County Conflict of Interest Waiver Form *prior* to engaging in outside employment. A separate form must be submitted for each outside employment situation. Incomplete forms will be denied.

Changes in outside employment including, but not limited to, changes in work schedules at the outside employer, termination from the outside employer, or changes to the ownership interests in the outside employer must be disclosed to the City on a new Outside Employment Request and Disclosure Form within 30 calendar days of the change.

Failure to abide by the City's Outside Employment policy, including the timely disclosure of Outside Employment, may result in disciplinary action up to, and including, termination.

## D. Injuries and Outside Employment

If an employee suffers an injury or illness during or resulting from an outside employment activity, the City will not be responsible for any worker's compensation benefits.

If an employee holds outside employment and is injured on their job with the City, the City shall assume no responsibility for wages lost at the outside employment as a result of the injury.

# **Chapter 21: Conflicts of Interest and Code of Ethics Policy**

It is the policy of the City to require employees to avoid prohibited conflicts of interest. When employees are in doubt as to whether any particular action or inaction presents a prohibited conflict of interest, employees must immediately seek guidance from the immediate supervisor or Department Director.

# A. Definitions for Conflict Of Interest and Code of Ethics Policy

A "conflict of interest" means a situation where regard for an employee's private interest tends to lead to disregard of a public duty or interest. A "conflict of interest" occurs when employees solicit or accept gifts, do business with the City and/or engage in prohibited employment or business relationships, accept unauthorized compensation, misuse their position, disclose or use certain information, solicit or accept honoraria, or engage in lobbying the City within two years of separation of employment, accept prohibited travel expenses, receive contingency fees, or submit false statements in connection with employment or services provided to the City in violation of this policy, all of which are more fully described below.

A "covered person" for purposes of this Handbook is a City employee. However, the statutes and local ordinances regulating ethics and conflicts of interests also govern the City Council members.

A "domestic partner" is an adult, unrelated by blood, with whom an unmarried or separated official or employee has an exclusive committed relationship and maintains a mutual residence.

A "gift" is something which is paid or given by a person or entity to a City employee, or to another for or on behalf of the employee, directly, indirectly, or in trust for the employee's benefit or by any other means, where the employee does not, in exchange, give something of equal or greater value to that person or entity within 90 days, including:

- real property or the use of real property
- tangible or intangible personal property or the use of tangible or intangible personal property
- a preferential rate or terms on a debt, loan, goods, or services, which rate is below the customary rate and is not either a government rate available to all other similarly situated government employees or a rate which is available to similarly situated members of the public by virtue of occupation, affiliation, age, religion, sex, or national origin
- forgiveness of an indebtedness
- transportation, other than that provided to a public employee by an agency in relation to officially approved governmental business, lodging, or parking
- food or beverage
- membership dues
- entrance fees, admission fees, or tickets to events, performances, or facilities
- plants, flowers, or floral arrangements
- services provided by persons pursuant to a professional license or certificate
- other personal services for which a fee is normally charged by the person providing the service

 any other similar service or thing having an attributable value not already provided for above

A "gift" does not include the following items:

- Salary, benefits, services, fees, commissions, gifts, or expenses associated with the employee's employment, business, or service as an officer or director of a corporation or organization.
- Campaign contributions or expenditures reported pursuant to statute, campaign-related personal services provided without compensation by individuals volunteering their time, or any other contribution or expenditure by a political party.
- An honorarium or an expense related to an honorarium event paid to a person or the person's spouse.
- An award, plaque, certificate, or similar personalized item given in recognition of the employee's public, civic, charitable, or professional service.
- An honorary membership in a service or fraternal organization presented merely as a courtesy by such organization.
- The use of a public facility or public property made available by a governmental agency, for a public purpose.
- Transportation provided to an employee by an agency in relation to officially approved governmental business.
- Gifts provided directly or indirectly by a state, regional, or national organization which promotes the exchange of ideas between, or the professional development of, government officials or employees, and whose membership is primarily composed of elected or appointed public officials or staff, to members of that organization or officials or staff of a governmental agency that is a member of that organization.

A "household member" includes anyone whose primary residence is in the official's or employee's home, including nonrelatives who are not rent payers or employees of the head of household.

"Immediate family" means any parent, spouse, child, or sibling.

A "relative" means an individual who is related to a Covered Person as father, mother, son, daughter, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, first cousin, nephew, niece, husband, wife, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, stepfather, stepmother, stepson, stepdaughter, stepbrother, stepsister, half-brother, half-sister, grandparent, great grandparent, great grandparent, step great grandparent, step grandparent, step

# **B.** Prohibited Conflicts Of Interest

All employees are prohibited from engaging in conduct that creates a conflict of interest. Additionally, employees should avoid engaging in conduct that merely has the appearance of a conflict of interest.

# C. Solicitation or Acceptance of Gifts

City employees are prohibited from soliciting or accepting anything of value, including gifts, loans, rewards, promises of future employment, favors or services that are based on any understanding that their vote, official action or judgment would be influenced by such a gift.

Employees are prohibited from soliciting any gift from a political committee, a certified committee of continuous existence, or from a person who, for compensation, seeks or sought to influence the governmental decision making of the employee, or who encouraged the passage, defeat, or modification of any proposal or recommendation by the employee or the City Council, within the past 12 months, where the gift is for the personal benefit of the employee, or any member of their immediate family or household.

Employees, or any person on his or her behalf, are prohibited from knowingly accepting, directly or indirectly, a gift from a political committee, certified committee of continuous existence, or from a person who, for compensation, seeks or sought to influence the governmental decision making of the employee, or who encouraged the passage, defeat, or modification of any proposal or recommendation by the employee, or the City Council, within the past 12 months, if he/she knows or reasonably believes that the gift has a value in excess of \$100.00. However, such a gift may be accepted by the employee on behalf of City or a charitable organization so long as the employee does not maintain custody of the gift for any period of time beyond that reasonably necessary to arrange for the transfer of custody and ownership of the gift. The value of the gift is generally determined using the actual cost to the donor, less taxes and gratuities, or the reasonable and customary charge for personal services provided by the donor directly. Compensation provided by the employee to the donor within 90 days after receipt of the gift is deducted from the value.

No Covered Person shall accept or agree to accept a gift from a person or entity, because of:

- An official public action taken or to be taken, or which could be taken;
- A legal duty performed or to be performed or which could be performed; or
- A legal duty violated or to be violated, or which could be violated by any official or employee.

No Covered Person, or any other person or entity on his or her behalf, shall knowingly solicit a gift of any value from any person or business entity that the recipient knows is a vendor, lobbyist or any principal or employer of a lobbyist where the gift is for the personal benefit of the official or employee, another official or employee, or any relative or household member of the official or employee.

Even though the acceptance of gifts may be lawful under the Code of Ethics applicable to City employees, acceptance of gifts may have the unintended consequence of creating the perception of impropriety or self-dealing. For that reason, employees are strongly urged to decline any and all gifts offered by vendors, lobbyists, members of the public, or the principal or employer of a lobbyist doing business with the City. Employees who are unsure how to politely and professionally decline a well-intentioned gift should seek guidance form their supervisor.

# D. Gift Reports

Any employee who receives a gift in excess of one hundred dollars (\$100.00) shall report that gift in accordance with this section.

Gift reports for employees identified by state law as reporting individuals.

Those persons required to report gifts pursuant to state law shall report those gifts in the manner provided by Florida Statutes, §112.3148, as may be amended. A copy of each report shall be filed with the Palm Beach County Commission on Ethics.

All other employees who are not reporting individuals under state law.

Personal gifts. All employees who are not reporting individuals under state law are not required to report gifts in excess of one hundred dollars (\$100.00) so long as those gifts are given to the employee by a personal friend or co-worker and the circumstances demonstrate that the motivation for the gift was the personal or social relationship rather than an attempt to obtain the goodwill or otherwise influence the official or employee in the performance of his or her official duties. Factors to be considered in determining whether a gift was motivated by a personal or social relationship may include but shall not be limited to: whether the relationship began before or after the official or employee obtained his or her office or position; the prior history of gift giving between the individuals; whether the gift was given in connection with a holiday or other special occasion; whether the donor personally paid for the gift or sought a tax deduction or business reimbursement; and whether the donor gave similar gifts to other officials or employees at or near the same time. If the personal friend or co-worker is a vendor, lobbyist or principal or employer of a lobbyist that lobbies the City, then the employee shall not accept a gift in excess of one hundred dollars (\$100.00) in accordance with this policy.

All other gifts. All employees who are not reporting individuals under state law and who receive any gift in excess of one hundred dollars (\$100.00), which is not otherwise excluded or prohibited pursuant to this subsection, shall complete and submit an annual gift disclosure report with the County Commission on Ethics no later than November 1 of each year beginning November 1, 2011, for the period ending September 30 of each year. All officials or employees who are not reporting individuals under state law and who do not receive a gift in excess of one hundred dollars (\$100.00) during a given reporting period shall not file an annual gift disclosure report. The annual gift disclosure report shall be created by the County Commission on Ethics and shall be in a form substantially similar in content as that required by state law.

**E.** Doing Business with the City and Prohibited Employment and Business Relationships Covered Persons are prohibited from having an employment or contractual relationship with any business entity or agency which is subject to the regulation of the City or that is doing business with the City.

Covered Persons are prohibited from having an employment or contractual relationship that will create a continuing or frequently recurring conflict between his or her private interests and the performance of his or her public duties or that would impede the full and faithful discharge of his or her public duties.

Covered Persons acting in their official capacity as a purchasing agent, with authority to commit the expenditure of public funds through a contract for, or the purchase of, any goods, services, or interest in real property for the City (as opposed to the authority to request or requisition a contract or purchase by another person) are prohibited from either directly or indirectly purchasing, renting, or leasing any realty, goods, or services for the City from any business entity of which the employee, or the employee's spouse or child is an officer, partner, director, or proprietor or in which such employee or his or her spouse or child, or any combination of them, has a material interest. A material interest means direct or indirect ownership of more than 5 percent of the total assets or capital stock of any business entity; however, indirect ownership does not include ownership by a spouse or minor child.

Covered Persons are prohibited from acting in a private capacity to rent, lease, or sell any realty, goods, or services to the City unless the contract for the transaction was entered into prior to the employee's first date of employment at the City.

# F. Unauthorized Compensation

Employees, their spouses and minor children are prohibited from accepting any compensation, payment, or item of value when the employee knows, or should know with the exercise of reasonable care, that is given to influence an action in which the employee was expected to participate in his or her official capacity.

#### **G.** Misuse of Position

Covered Persons are prohibited from, whether corruptly or not, using or attempting to use his or her position or any property or resource which may be within his or her trust, or perform his or her official duties, to secure a special privilege, benefit or exemption for himself, herself, or others. "Corruptly" means done with a wrongful intent and for the purpose of obtaining, or compensating or receiving compensation for, any benefit resulting from some act or omission of an official or employee which is inconsistent with the proper performance of his or her public duties.

Specifically, an employee shall not use his or her official position, or take or fail to take any action, or influence others to take or fail to take any action, in a manner which he or she knows or should know with the exercise of reasonable care will result in a special financial benefit, not shared with similarly situated members of the general public, for any of the following persons or entities:

- Himself or herself:
- His or her spouse or domestic partner, household member or persons claimed as dependents on the official or employee's latest individual federal income tax return, or the employer or business of any of these people;
- A sibling or step-sibling, child or step-child, parent or step-parent, niece or nephew, uncle or aunt, or grandparent or grandchild of either himself or herself, or of his or her spouse or domestic partner, or the employer or business of any of these people;
- An outside employer or business of his or hers, or of his or her spouse or domestic partner, or someone who is known to such official or employee to work for such outside employer or business;
- A customer or client of the official or employee's outside employer or business;
- A substantial debtor or creditor of his or hers, or of his or her spouse or domestic partner—"substantial" for these purposes shall mean at least ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00) and shall

not include forms of indebtedness, such as a mortgage and note, or a loan between the employee and a financial institution;

• A civic group, union, social, charitable, or religious organization, or other not for profit organization of which he or she (or his or her spouse or domestic partner) is an officer or director.

## H. Disclosure of Certain Information

Current and former employees of the City are prohibited from disclosing or using information not available to members of the general public and gained by reason of his or her position, except for information relating exclusively to governmental practices, for his or her personal gain or benefit or for the personal gain or benefit of any other person or business entity.

## I. Solicitation or Acceptance of Honoraria

The City Manager, City Clerk, City Building Official, employees with the power to grant or deny a land development permit, and any purchasing agent with authority to make any single purchase in excess of \$20,000 on behalf of the City are prohibited from soliciting an honorarium which is related to their public office or duties. An honorarium means any payment of money or anything of value, directly or indirectly, to the employee, or to any other person on his or her behalf, as payment for a speech, address, oration or other oral presentation by the employee, regardless of whether presented in person, recorded or broadcast over the media, or for a writing by the employee that is intended to be published (other than a book). Because an honorarium does not include the payment or provision of actual and reasonable transportation, lodging, and food and beverage expenses related to the honorarium event, including any event or meeting registration fee for the employee and spouse, the employee may accept payment of such expenses related to an honorarium event, provided the employee receives a statement listing the name and address of the person providing the expenses, a description of the expenses provided each day, and the total value of the expenses provided for the event within 60 days of the event and receives a waiver from the City Council authorizing acceptance of such expenses, as more specifically outlined under the Travel Expenses section of this policy. If the City Council authorizes acceptance of the expenses, the employee must disclose such expenses and approval annually in the financial disclosure when such expenses are paid by a political committee or committee of continuous existence or from a person who, for compensation, seeks or sought to influence the governmental decision making of the City Manager or purchasing agent, or who encouraged the passage, defeat, or modification of any proposal or recommendation by the City Manager, purchasing agent, or the City Council, within the past 12 months.

# J. Travel Expenses

No employee shall accept, directly or indirectly, any travel expenses including, but not limited to, transportation, lodging, meals, registration fees and incidentals from any municipal contractor, vendor, service provider, bidder or proposer as applicable. The City Council may waive the requirements of this subsection by a majority vote of the City Council. The provisions of this subsection shall not apply to travel expenses paid by other governmental entities or by organizations of which the municipality is a member if the travel is related to that membership.

## **K.** Contingency Fees

No person shall, in whole or in part, pay, give or agree to pay or give a contingency fee to another person. No person shall, in whole or in part, receive or agree to receive a contingency fee. "Contingency fee" means a fee, bonus, commission, or nonmonetary benefit as compensation which is dependent on or in any way contingent on the passage, defeat, or modification of: an ordinance, resolution, action or decision of the City Council, any employee authorized to act on behalf of the City Council, the City Manager, or any action or decision of an advisory board or committee. This prohibition does not apply to real estate brokers when acting in the course of their profession as regulated by Florida Statutes, §§ 475.001—475.5018, as may be amended. Nothing in this section may be construed to prohibit any salesperson from engaging in legitimate government business on behalf of a company from receiving compensation or commission as part of a bona fide contractual arrangement with that company provided such compensation or commission is ordinary and customary in the industry. Nothing in this section may be construed to prohibit an attorney from representing a client in a judicial proceeding or formal administrative hearing pursuant to a contingent fee arrangement.

## L. Honesty in Applications for Positions

No person seeking to become an officer or employee, or seeking to enter into a contract to provide goods or services to the City, may make any false statement, submit any false document, or knowingly withhold information about wrongdoing in connection with employment by or services to the City.

## M. Ethics Training

At the beginning of employment and throughout the course of employment, employees are advised of their obligations to comply with the Palm Beach County and State of Florida Code of Ethics. Training provided by the City is mandatory for all Covered Persons, whether initial training or follow-up training. The City provides initial training within 60 days of employment and follow-up training on the ethics obligations of Covered Persons approximately every 24 months. The Director of Human Resources shall act as liaison between City and the Commission on Ethics with respect to ethics training. Employees must complete the acknowledgement form upon completion of training to be placed in their personnel file.

## N. Consequences for Violations

Any employee who engages in a prohibited conflict of interest, as specified above, shall be subject to discipline, up to and including immediate termination of employment.

Additionally, any employee may be subject to investigation by the Florida Commission on Ethics, the Palm Beach County State Attorney's Office, Palm Beach County Commission on Ethics, or other enforcement agencies, which may result in civil and/or criminal penalties, if the violation of this policy also constitutes a violation of Florida or applicable local law.

# O. Reporting Violations

Employees must contact their immediate supervisor or Department Director if they have any questions concerning the Conflict of Interest and Code of Ethics Policy. Suspected violations of the Conflict of Interest and Code of Ethics Policy must be reported immediately to their Department Director or the City Manager. Employees may report their concerns verbally or in

writing. Department Directors receiving reports of alleged violations must immediately forward the report to the City Manager for action.

Employees may also report suspected violations of this policy to the Palm Beach County Inspector General or the Palm Beach County Commission on Ethics.

The City will not retaliate against any employee who reports suspected violations of this Conflict of Interest and Code of Ethics Policy unless it is determined the report was made in bad faith or maliciously.

In the event state or local law governing conflicts of interest and ethics is amended, any such applicable amendments will control.

Moreover, the Office of Inspector General (OIG) has the responsibility for investigating possible instances of fraud, waste, mismanagement, misconduct and other abuses by a City official, employee, contractor or any other parties doing business or that have a financial relationship with the City. This directive establishes a policy and procedure for reporting such matters to the OIG.

City Employees shall report any fraud, theft, bribery, contract mismanagement (misuse or loss exceeding \$5,000), or other violations of law, which appear to fall under the jurisdiction of the OIG on matters related to City business in accordance with the procedure established herein.

An employee, who becomes aware of a matter that may be within the responsibility of the OIG, shall promptly report their concerns/information in any of the following ways:

- 1. to the Office of Inspector General www.pbcgov.com/OIG/rwfa.htm, 561-233-2350; or
- 2. to the employee's department director; or
- 3. to the City Manager; or
- 4. any combination of the preceding.

The employee may choose whichever method they think is appropriate for the matter. Any qualifying matter reported to management shall be promptly reported to the OIG. Staff Cooperation; All employees are expected to fully cooperate with the OIG in the exercise of the OIG's functions, authority and powers. Such cooperation shall include, but not be limited to, providing statements, documents, records, and other information.

# **Chapter 22: Discipline Guidelines**

# A. Purpose

It shall be the duty of all City employees to maintain high standards of competence, conduct, cooperation, efficiency, and economy in their work. Department Directors and supervisors shall organize and direct the work under their direction in a manner calculated to achieve these objectives.

When employee performance, conduct, or behavior issues occur, it is the responsibility of all supervisors, managers, and Department Directors to administer disciplinary action in a fair and consistent manner. Disciplinary actions involving suspension, demotion, or termination require the approval of the City Manager, in concert with the Director of Human Resources.

## **B.** Standards of Conduct

Making the City of Greenacres a great place to live and work requires that employees maintain proper standards of conduct at all times. As an employee of the City, your performance and conduct is in the public eye of City of Greenacres residents. Employee actions and behavior directly affect the City's reputation, and you must be constantly aware of the image you project to the public.

The City of Greenacres has established policies and procedures to guide employee performance. These do not cover all the work an employee is required to do, and do not replace the need to use sound judgment and common sense. Employees who fail to maintain proper standards of conduct or exhibit substandard performance may be subject to appropriate corrective action, up to and including termination.

A partial list of unacceptable behavior has been developed as a guideline of employee standards of conduct while employed by the City. Any and all violations may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. The City recognizes that each instance differs in many respects from seemingly similar situations. The City retains the right to treat each occurrence on an individual basis and without creating a precedent for other cases which may arise in the future. The Types of Offenses are not to be construed as a limitation upon the retained rights of the City. These guidelines provide recommended standard penalties to apply for specific offenses. This means that a more severe penalty may be issued than that which appears as the recommended level of discipline. In addition to the Types of Offenses listed below, infractions of written departmental rules and regulations will subject the employee to disciplinary action.

Non-bargaining, probationary, seasonal, part-time and temporary employees' employment with the City of Greenacres is at-will. The City reserves the right to terminate employment of such employees at any time, for any reason, with or without cause, with or without prior notice or with or without prior disciplinary action.

## C. Types of Offenses

The group listings below are not all-inclusive. It is impossible to list all actions and behaviors that would be considered unacceptable and subject an employee to disciplinary action. All employees are required to follow City policies, practices and procedures, use sound judgment and common sense, and to ask their supervisor if they need assistance to guide their actions.

The three (3) groups of offenses and a guide for recommended penalties are as follows:

# 1. Group I Offenses

FIRST OFFENSE	Up to Written Reprimand
SECOND OFFENSE	One (1) Day Suspension
THIRD OFFENSE	Up to Five (5) Day Suspension
FOURTH OFFENSE	Up to Termination

- a. Operating, using or possessing tools, equipment or machines to which the employee has not been assigned or performing other than assigned work.
- b. Quitting work, wasting time, loitering or leaving assigned work area during work hours without permission.
- c. Washing up or changing clothes during working hours without specific permission or supervision.
- d. Taking more than specified time for meals or rest periods.
- e. Productivity or workmanship not up to required standards or performance.
- f. Failure to perform and/or neglect of assigned duties.
- g. Reporting to work or working while unfit for duty.
- h. Posting or removal of any material on bulletin boards or City Property unless authorized.
- i. Distribution of literature for any purpose on the job without the prior approval of the City Manager or his designee.
- j. Discourtesy to persons with whom the employee comes in contact while in the performance of duties.
- k. Wasting valuable work time such as talking about the private affairs of others in a malicious manner, spreading gossip, and other unproductive behavior;
- 1. Tardiness or unauthorized failure of an employee to be present punctually for all and any part of the employee's assigned hours of work.
- m. Chronic absenteeism.
- n. Creating or contributing to unsafe and unsanitary conditions or poor housekeeping.
- o. Failure to report the loss of a City's identification card to the department Director (if applicable).
- p. Failure to keep the department and Human Resources of proper address or telephone numbers (if any).
- q. Political activity conduct during employee's regularly scheduled work time.

# 2. Group II Offenses

FIRST OFFENSE	Up to Two (2) Day Suspension
SECOND OFFENSE	Up to Five (5) Day Suspension
THIRD OFFENSE	Up to Termination

a. Threatening, intimidating, coercing or interfering with fellow employees or supervision, at any time, including abusive language.

- b. Sleeping during duty hours, unless otherwise authorized.
- c. Failure to work overtime, special hours or special shifts after being scheduled.
- d. Negligence or omission in complying with the requirements as set forth in departmental rules and standards of conduct.
- e. Willfully making or publishing false, vicious or malicious statements concerning any employee, supervisor, the City or its operation.
- f. Absent without permission or leave (A.W.O.L).
- g. Use of, or being under the influence of, alcoholic beverage(s), illegal narcotic(s) and/or controlled substances, while on duty.
- h. Negligence which affects the safety of City personnel, equipment, tools or property.
- i. Failure to report a request for information or receipt of a subpoena from a law firm or an attorney for a matter relating to City business.
- j. Solicitation of funds, for any purpose, on the job without the prior approval of the City Manager or designee.
- k. Violation of any or all of the steps outlined in the grievance procedure.
- 1. Knowingly harboring a serious communicable disease which may endanger other employees.
- m. Violating a safety rule or safety practice.
- n. Violation of the Mobile Telephone Policy.
- o. Violation of the Clean Indoor Air Policy.
- p. Failure to immediately report an accident or personal injury in which the employee was involved while on the job.
- q. Engaging in horseplay, scuffling, wrestling, throwing things, malicious mischief, distracting the attention of others, catcalls, demonstrations on the job or similar types of disorderly conduct.

# 3. Group III Offenses

	1
FIRST OFFENSE	Up to Termination

- a. Wanton duties or willful neglect in the performance of assigned duties.
- b. Theft, willful neglect, and/or misuse of City or employee property, funds, equipment, material(s) and/or supplies.
- c. Solicitation or receipt from any person, or participation in, any fee, gift, or other valuable thing in the course of work, when such fee, gift or other valuable thing is given in the hope or expectation of receiving a favor or better treatment than that accorded other persons.
- d. Falsification of personnel or City records, including employment applications, accident reports, work records, purchase orders, time sheets or any other report, record or application.
- e. Making false claims or misrepresentation in an attempt to obtain sickness or accident benefits or workers' compensation.
- f. Insubordination by the refusal to perform work assigned or to comply with written or verbal instructions of a supervisor.

- g. Unauthorized use or display of firearms, explosives or weapons on City property.
- h. Theft or removal from City locations, without proper authorization, any City property or property of an employee.
- i. Immoral, unlawful or improper conduct or indecency, either on or off the job, which would tend to affect the employee's relationship to his/her job, fellow workers, reputation or goodwill in the community.
- j. Being absent from duty for a period of three (3) consecutive working days without proper authorization.
- k. Failure to return from an authorized leave of absence.
- 1. Permitting another person to use an employee's City identification, using another person's or altering a City identification card.
- m. Incompetence or inefficiency in the performance of assigned duties in an employee's position.
- n. Use or possession of alcoholic beverages or drugs in violation of the Drug Free Workplace policy.
- o. Use or attempted use of political influence or bribery to secure an advantage of any manner.
- p. Conviction or guilt of a felony, or a misdemeanor of the first degree which would tend to affect the employee's relationship to his/her job, either on or off the job.
- q. Concerted curtailment, restriction of production or interference with work in or about the City's work stations including, but not limited to, instigating, leading or participating in any walkout, strike, sit-down, stand-in, slow-down or refusal to return to work at the scheduled time for the scheduled shift.
- r. Participation in a strike against the City as established in Florida Statute Sections 447.201 and 447.505.
- s. Refusal to be examined by a physician, designated and paid by the City, when directed to do so, as required in these regulations.
- t. Provoking or instigating a fight or fighting.
- u. Leaving his/her post at the end of the scheduled shift without being properly relieved by the supervisor or the relieving employee on the incoming shift, for those units operating on a 24-hour basis.
- v. Loss of licensing or certification, when required for the performance of assigned duties.
- w. Inability to secure a surety bond, where required as a condition of employment.
- x. Inability to satisfactorily perform the essential functions of the assigned position class with or without reasonable accommodation.
- y. Violation of any City policy, rule or regulation.

## D. Types of Discipline and Disciplinary Process

The following sets forth major categories of discipline that may be used by the City in personnel issues. Supervisors and Department Directors are encouraged to consult with Human Resources at each step in the disciplinary process. While supervisors may issue Verbal Warnings with the Department Director's approval, only Department Directors may issue Written Reprimands.

Please note that Suspensions, Demotions, and Terminations must be reviewed by Human Resources and approved in writing by the City Manager prior to any action being taken.

# 1. Verbal Warning

Whenever employee performance, attitude, work habits or personal conduct at any time fall below a desirable level, supervisors and/or the Department Directors shall inform employees promptly and specifically by documented Verbal Warning. A Department Director or supervisor may determine that the first course of disciplinary action is a Verbal Warning. A Verbal Warning shall reference the actions for which the warning is issued. A record of such shall be documented by the individual who issued it, provided to the employee, and a copy shall be provided to Human Resources for the personnel file.

# 2. Written Reprimand

In situations where a documented Verbal Warning has not resulted in the expected improvement or is insufficient to recognize the seriousness of the unsatisfactory conduct and/or action(s) of the employee, a Written Reprimand may be issued defining the nature of the infraction under the rules. The Written Reprimand shall be provided to the employee and a copy shall be provided to Human Resources to be placed in the employee's personnel file. The employee's Department Director initiates and approves a written reprimand.

## 3. Suspension

Suspension is the temporary separation of a City employee from assigned duty for a definite period of time without pay. A City employee may be suspended for disciplinary purposes when, in the judgment of the Department Director after consultation with Human Resources and approval by the City Manager, a written warning has not had the desired corrective effect or is insufficient to recognize the seriousness of the unsatisfactory conduct and/or action(s) of the employee. The reason(s) for any suspension and the time period of any such suspension shall be given Human Resources in writing on the form provided, one copy of the form to be given, or mailed, to the employee before the suspension shall become effective; one copy to be retained by the Department Director. No employee shall be suspended for disciplinary purposes for more than thirty (30) days in any calendar year except that extensions may be made by the City Manager or designee.

## 4. Performance Improvement Plans

An employee who fails or refuses to satisfactorily perform any of the duties of the position may be placed on a Performance Improvement Plan in addition to any disciplinary action. However, the City reserves the right to terminate employees for performance issues without having previously issued a Performance Improvement Plan. Please see **Chapter 4: Employment and Performance** Evaluations above for additional information regarding Performance Improvement Plans.

#### 5. Demotion

An employee may be demoted or assigned to less responsible work for any reason, which may include a corresponding reduction in pay. A demotion occurs where the employee is moved to another position for which a lower maximum rate of pay is established. The City Manager must

approve all demotions may consult with Human Resources prior to a determination being made. Documentation of the demotion shall be placed in the personnel file.

# 6. Involuntary Discharge/Termination

Discharge/termination is permanent separation of employment. Non-bargaining, probationary, seasonal, part-time and temporary employees may be discharged/terminated at any time without cause or prior notice. A City employee subject to a collective bargaining agreement may be discharged/terminated for disciplinary purposes or for good and sufficient cause when, in the judgment of the City Manager or designee, prior written warning and/or suspension has not had the desired corrective effect, or is insufficient to recognize the seriousness of the unsatisfactory conduct and/or action(s) of the employee. The reason(s) for any proposed discharge/termination shall be given to Human Resources in writing on the form provided and shall require the prior approval of the City Manager or designee to be valid; one copy of the form to be given, or mailed, to the employee before the dismissal shall become effective; one copy to be retained by Human Resources in the personnel file. Non-bargaining, probationary, seasonal, part-time and temporary employees and those whose appointment is on other than a permanent basis, may be discharged/terminated at any time without cause or prior notice by the City Manager or designee without the right of appeal or hearing in any manner.

# **E.** Pre-Termination Meeting

Regular, full-time employees covered by collective bargaining agreements will be given an opportunity to attend a pre-termination meeting. The meeting must be held prior to the effective termination date to provide the employee with an opportunity to discuss the specific allegations promoting the proposed termination with the Department Director involved. The City Manager or designee shall preside at such meeting. Upon full and fair consideration of all facts and information presented at the hearing, the City Manager or designee shall notify the employee in writing with respect to his or her decision regarding the proposed termination.

# F. Post-Termination Name-Clearing Process

In the event of an involuntary termination, an employee will be provided reasons for termination. When the document providing reasons for the termination has the effect of stigmatizing the employee's reputation, and where the employee claims that such reasons are untrue, the employee shall be provided notice of the opportunity to request a "Name Clearing Process."

The purpose of a "Name Clearing Process" is to allow the employee an opportunity to tell his or her side of the story and respond to the charges. *The "Name Clearing Process" is not an appeal of the termination or an opportunity to gain reinstatement.* At or prior to the meeting, the employee has an opportunity to provide his or her position in writing so that it may be included in the personnel file and made part of the record open to the public under Florida's public records laws.

To request a "Name Clearing Process," employees must deliver the request to the City Manager in writing within ten (10) days of the date of the termination. A meeting will generally be provided by the City within ten (10) days of receipt of the employee's request for such a meeting. No such meeting will be held if a written request is not timely delivered by the employee. The employee

may provide witness statements at or prior to the meeting. The meeting will be held before the City Manager or designee, including but not limited to, the Director of Human Resources.

Employees covered by Collective Bargaining Agreements may use this process or any grievance process provided in the CBA, but not both.

# **Employee Acknowledgements General Acknowledgement**

This Handbook and related personnel policies and procedures describe important information about the City of Greenacres and I understand that I should consult with my immediate supervisor or the Director of Human Resources regarding any questions not answered in this Handbook or any City personnel policies and procedures.

Provided I am not covered by a collective bargaining agreement or an individual employment agreement, I have entered into my employment relationship with the City of Greenacres voluntarily and hereby acknowledge that my employment is at will and that there is no specified length of employment. Accordingly, either the City of Greenacres or I may terminate the employment relationship at will at any time, with or without cause, so long as there is no violation of applicable federal or state law.

Because the information, policies, procedures, and benefits described in this Handbook and elsewhere are subject to change as needed, I acknowledge that revisions to the foregoing may occur, except to the employment-at-will policy. Any such changes will be communicated as soon as possible after the change is instituted. I also understand that the revised information may supersede, modify or eliminate existing policies and procedures. I also understand that only the City Council has the ability to adopt revisions to the rules, policies, and procedures in this Handbook.

City Council has the ability to adopt revisions to the rules, policies, and procedures in this Handbook.
Employee Initials
Loyalty Oath
I also understand that as a condition of appointment and as required by State law, I must take the following Loyalty Oath as prescribed by Section 876.05(1), Florida Statutes:
I,, a citizen of the State of Florida and of the United States of America or a resident alien, and being employed by or an officer of the City of Greenacres, and a recipient of public funds as such employee or officer, do hereby solemnly swear or affirm that I will support the Constitution of the United States and of the State of Florida.
Employee Initials
Drug Free Workplace Policy Acknowledgement
I acknowledge that I received a copy of the Drug-Free Workplace Policy. I understand it is my obligation to read and understand the policy and that failure to comply with the policy shall subject me to disciplinary action up to, and including, termination which may result in forfeiture of my workers' compensation and unemployment compensation benefits.
Employee Initials

# **Equal Employment Opportunity and Anti-Discrimination and Anti-Harassment Acknowledgment**

I acknowledge that I must abide by these policies at all times during my employment and that any failure to abide by them constitutes misconduct connected with employment, as defined by Florida Statute Chapter 443, and shall subject me to immediate termination.

I specifically acknowledge and agree that I will report any inappropriate or questionable behavior that I witness or experience to my immediate supervisor, Department Director, the Director of Human Resources, the City Manager, or the City Attorney immediately. I understand that failure to report such behavior immediately, may subject me to immediate termination for misconduct connected with employment.

\_\_\_\_Employee Initials

# E-Mail, Internet and Social Media Acknowledgment and Waiver

I acknowledge that I have received a copy of the E-Mail, Internet, and Social Media Policy contained in this Handbook. I understand that my use of the E-mail and Internet system constitutes my consent to all the terms and conditions of that policy.

In particular, I understand that (1) the E-mail system and all information transmitted by, received from, or stored in that system are the property of the City, (2) the system is to be used only for business purposes and not for personal purposes, and (3) I have no expectation of privacy in connection with the use of the E-mail system, the Internet, or devices, or with the transmission, receipt, or storage of information in such systems or devices.

I agree not to use a code, access a file, or retrieve stored communications unless authorized. I acknowledge and consent to the City monitoring my use of the E-mail system and the Internet at any time at its discretion, including printing and reading all E-mails or other electronic data entering, leaving, or stored in the system.

I further waive any and all rights and privileges with respect to any and all information, communications, files, and records transmitted through and residing on such systems.

Employee Initials

## **Conflict of Interest and Code of Ethics Policy**

I understand and agree that I must abide by the Conflict of Interest and Code of Ethics Policy. I have been provided training on my obligations and understand that I am subject to both the State of Florida Code of Ethics and the Palm Beach County Code of Ethics, as amended from time to time. Violation of this policy may lead to immediate termination and investigation or other penalties imposed by outside organizations.

Employee Initials

Furthermore, I acknowledge that this manual of rules, policies and procedures is neither a contract
of employment nor a legal document. I have received the manual and understand that it is my
responsibility to read and comply with the policies contained herein and any revisions made
hereafter.

Dated	, 20
Employee Signature	Witness Signature
Employee Printed Name	Witness Printed Name

# TUITION REIMBURSEMENT PROGRAM APPLICATION

TUITION REIMBURSEMENT PROGRAM APPLICATION							
Employee Nan		TION I			Payro	ll ID #:	
Department:	Department: Job Title:						
	SECT	ION I	I				
School/Institution: Semester/Term:							
Degree Pursuing: Associates Bachelors Major:							
Course Inforr	nation: Separate applications must be utilize	ed wher	cour	se end dates are o	differen	t.	
Course #	Course Title	Course Dates/ Number of Day(s) and Times Credit Hours Tuition C			Tuition Costs		
1.							\$
2.							\$
Books:						Estima	ated Amount
						\$	
	SECTION III – Terms of Ago	reemei	nt an	d Acknowledgr	nent		
It is understood that I am requesting reimbursement of tuition and other costs pursuant to the Personnel Policy Handbook or the IAFF Collective Bargaining Agreement. I understand that activities (i.e. homework, research, etc.) associated with the pursuit of this degree and attendance of the course(s) listed herein shall be during my off-duty hours. I certify that the courses are related to my work field and that I am not receiving payments for these courses from any other source.  I agree to remain employed for a minimum of three (3) years from the completion date of the course(s). If I fail to do so for any reason, I shall reimburse the City as stipulated in the Personnel Policy Handbook for payments made to me for reimbursed course(s). I further agree that reimbursement to the City shall be deducted from any benefits due me at the time of my separation from employment. I acknowledge that the City is authorized to enforce the terms and conditions of this Agreement during and after my employment.							
Employee's Sigr		EDCI	AENI	Date			
STATE OF FLO	ACKNOWI Orida	LEDGI	MEN	I			
COUNTY OF P	PALM BEACH						
Sworn and subscr	ribed to before me this day of	, 2	0	_, by			, who is
personally known	n to me or has produced			as identification.			
	Not	tary Pu	blic				
Seal/Stamp		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,					
	Not	tary Na	me; S	Stamped, Printed	or Typ	ed	
	SECTION IV – Course and	d Rein	bur	sement Approv	al		
Department	t Director			Date			
Human Res	sources			Date			
City Manag	ger			Date			



# HARASSMENT/DISCRIMINATION REPORT FORM

Name of the Complainant:
Department:
Phone Number:
E-mail:
Today's Date:
Name of the Accused:
Department:
Relationship of the Accused to the Complainant (Director, Supervisor, Co-worker, Vendor, etc.):
Phone Number:
E-mail:
Date of Incident: (If more than one event, please report each event on a separate form.)
Where did the specific event occur?
Please explain the events that occurred.

How did you react to the situation? Did you take any action to stop perceived

inappropriate behavior?

Describe the harm you have suffered as a result of the event.
Were there any witnesses to this specific event? (If yes, please provide their names.)
Is there any physical evidence that supports your complaint? If so, please describe or attach copy of evidence.
What would be your desired outcome of the investigation?
The information provided in this complaint is true and correct to the best of my knowledge. I am willing to cooperate fully in the investigation of my complaint and provide whatever evidence the City deems relevant.
Signature:Date:
If additional space is needed, please attach along with this form and return to Human Resources.

#### APPENDIX A

# The City of Greenacres Drug Free Work Place Policy

#### **PURPOSE:**

The City of Greenacres has a longstanding commitment to provide a safe and productive work environment consistent with the standards of the community in which we serve. The use of drugs by City employees, on or off the job, and the state of being under the influence of drugs or alcohol while at work are inconsistent with the law-abiding behavior expected by all citizens and the special trust placed in City employees as public servants. Alcohol and drug use and abuse poses a threat to the health and safety of the City of Greenacres employees and to the security of the City's property and facilities. The City of Greenacres is committed to the elimination of drug and alcohol use and abuse in the workplace.

## **POLICY:**

This policy outlines the practice and procedure designed to establish the City as a Drug Free Workplace in accordance with the program requirements outlined in Florida Statute § 440.102.

In the event the provisions of this policy conflict with a collective bargaining agreement the collective bargaining agreement will prevail.

#### **DEFINITIONS:**

"City premises" includes all buildings, offices, facilities, grounds, parking lots, places and vehicles owned, leased, used, or managed by the City of Greenacres or on any site on which the City is conducting business.

"Drug" means alcohol, including a distilled spirit, wine, a malt beverage, or an intoxicating liquor; an amphetamine; a cannabinoid; cocaine; phencyclidine (PCP); a hallucinogen; methaqualone; an opiate; a barbiturate; a benzodiazepine; a synthetic narcotic; a designer drug; or a metabolite of any of these substances.

"Drug Test" means any chemical, biological, or physical instrumental analysis administered by a certified laboratory for the purpose of determining the presence or absence of a drug or its metabolites.

"Employee" is a person who works for the City on a wage, salary or unpaid basis, who is subject to the control and direction of the City in the performance of their duties. For the purposes of this Policy, this definition includes all volunteers and contract employees. "Job Applicant" for purposes of this Policy is an individual who has applied for a Special Risk or Mandatory Testing position with the City, has been selected and offered the position contingent upon completion of a background check, post-offer physical and drug test.

"Medical Review Officer" (MRO) is a licensed physician who has knowledge of substance abuse disorders, laboratory testing procedures, and chain of custody collection procedures; who verifies positive, confirmed test results; and who has the necessary medical training to interpret and evaluate an employee's positive test result in relation to the employee's medical history or any other relevant biomedical information. The MRO is responsible for receiving and reviewing laboratory drug test results. The MRO assesses and determines whether an alternate medical or other acceptable explanation can account for a confirmed positive test result.

"Mandatory Testing Position" is any position, including a supervisory or management position, a job assignment that requires the employee to carry a firearm, work closely with an employee who carries a firearm, perform life-threatening procedures, work with heavy or dangerous machinery, work as a safety inspector, work with children, work with detainees in the correctional system, work with confidential information or documents pertaining to criminal investigations, work with controlled substances, or a job assignment that requires an employee security background check, pursuant to s. 110.1127, or a job assignment in which a momentary lapse in attention could result in injury or death to another person.

"Special Risk Position" is a position that is required to be filled by a person who is certified as a firefighter by the State.

"Specimen" means a tissue, hair, oral fluid (saliva) or product of the human body capable of revealing the presence of drugs or their metabolites.

"Refuse to cooperate" means to obstruct the collection or testing process; to submit an altered, adulterated or substitute sample; to fail to show up for a scheduled test; to refuse to complete the requested drug testing forms; to fail to promptly provide specimen(s) for testing when directed to do so, without a valid medical basis for the failure or otherwise fail to adhere to this policy. Employees who leave the scene of an accident without justifiable explanation prior to submission to drug and alcohol testing will also be considered to have refused to cooperate and will automatically be subject to discharge.

"Under the influence of alcohol" means an alcohol concentration equal to or greater than .04, or actions, appearance, speech or bodily odors that reasonably cause a supervisor to conclude that an employee is impaired because of alcohol use.

"Under the influence of drugs" means a confirmed positive test result for drug use per this policy, which may include the misuse of legal drugs (prescription and possibly OTC) when there is not a valid prescription from a physician for the lawful use of a drug in the course of medical treatment (containers must include the patient's name, the name of the substance, quantity/amount to be taken and the period of authorization).

#### PROCEDURE: A. Substance Abuse Awareness

Illegal drug use and alcohol misuse have many serious adverse health and safety consequences. Information about those consequences and sources of help for drug or alcohol problems is available from the Human Resources Division along with the Employee Assistance Program.

# B. Employee Assistance

The City of Greenacres may assist and support employees who voluntarily seek help for such problems before becoming subject to discipline or termination under this or any other City of Greenacres policies. Such employees may be allowed to use accrued paid time off, placed on a leave of absence, referred to treatment providers and otherwise reasonably accommodated as required by law. Such employees may be required to document that they are successfully following prescribed treatment and to take and pass follow-up tests if they hold jobs that are Mandatory Testing or Special Risk positions, require driving, or if they have violated this policy previously. Once a drug test has been scheduled, unless otherwise required by the Family and Medical Leave Act or the Americans with Disabilities Act, the employee will have forfeited the opportunity to be granted a leave of absence for treatment, and possible discipline, up to and including termination, will be enforced.

## C. Work Rules

1. The possession or use of medical marijuana is not allowed on City premises.

- a. If an applicant or employee with a legal referral for marijuana (for the treatment of a medical condition) tests positive based on the substance limits for the drug test, it will be reported by the lab as a "positive drug test" and will be treated in accordance with all other positive drug tests.
- 2. Whenever employees are working or operating any City vehicle, are present on City premises, or are conducting City-related work offsite, they are prohibited from:
  - a. Using, possessing, buying, selling, manufacturing or dispensing an illegal drug (to include drug paraphernalia).
  - b. Being under the influence of alcohol or drug as defined in this policy.
  - c. Possessing or consuming alcohol.
- 3. The presence of any detectable amount of any drug or alcohol in an employee's system, while performing City business or while in a City facility, is prohibited.
- 4. The City of Greenacres will also not allow employees to perform their duties while taking prescribed drugs that may adversely affect their ability to safely and effectively perform their job duties. Employees taking a prescribed medication must carry it in the container labeled by a licensed pharmacist or be prepared to produce it if asked.
- 5. Any drug or drug paraphernalia will be turned over to an appropriate law enforcement agency and may result in criminal prosecution.
- 6. Employees and applicants shall be given an opportunity to provide any relevant information prior to the test, including identification of currently or recently used prescription or non-prescription medications as well as any legal referral for marijuana use for the treatment of a medical condition.
  - a. There are no exceptions for applicants or employees with legal referrals for marijuana.
- 7. Any employee who believes that another City employee is using or has used drugs or alcohol in violation of this

Policy shall immediately report that information to their Department Director and/or Human Resources. Failure of an employee to make such report could result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.

# D. Required Testing:

# 1. Pre-employment

All applicants for Special Risk and Mandatory Testing positions and/or those required to drive as part of their position must pass a drug test before beginning work as a condition of employment. Refusal to submit to testing will result in disqualification of further employment consideration.

The City must include notice to job applicants on vacancy announcements for those positions for which drug testing is required (The City of Greenacres is committed to providing an environment free of the abuse of alcohol and the illegal use of alcohol and other drugs. The City has adopted and implemented programs, including drug testing, that seek to prevent the illicit use of drugs and the abuse of alcohol by City employees, volunteers, or coaches).

A notice of the employer's drug-testing policy must be posted in plain view on the employer's premises, and copies of the policy must be made available for the employees or job applicants during regular business hours in Human Resources, or other suitable location.

## 2. Reasonable Suspicion

Employees are subject to testing based on (but not limited to) observations by the supervisor of apparent workplace use, possession or impairment. Human Resources shall be consulted before sending an employee for testing. All levels of supervision making this decision must use the Reasonable Suspicion Reporting Form (Attachment B) to document specific observations and behaviors that create a reasonable suspicion that the person is under the influence of drugs or alcohol. If the results of the Reasonable Suspicion Reporting Form indicate further action is justified, the Director or supervisor should confront the employee with the documentation or with another designee. (*Under no circumstances will the employee* 

be allowed to drive himself or herself to the testing facility. A Supervisor or Human Resources must escort the employee; and will make arrangements for the employee to be transported home.

Some examples of reasonable suspicion may include, but are not limited to:

- Direct observation of drug/alcohol use, or the symptoms of being under the influence of drug(s) or alcohol.
- Abnormal behavior while at work or a significant deterioration in work performance.
- A report of drug use, provided by a reliable and credible source.
- Evidence that an individual has tampered with a drug test during his or her employment with the City.
- Information that an employee has caused, contributed to, or been involved in, an accident while at work.
- Evidence that an employee has used, possessed, sold, or solicited drugs while working or while on the employer's premises or while operating the employer's vehicle, machinery or equipment.

If the testing is conducted on a "reasonable suspicion" basis, the employer must promptly record the circumstances which formed the basis of the determination that reasonable suspicion existed to warrant the testing. A copy of this documentation must be provided to the employee on request, and the original documentation must be kept confidential by the City.

#### 3. Post-accident

All employees contributing to an on-the-job vehicular accident, industrial accident, or who sustain and are evaluated and are treated for an on-the-job injury, or

cause death or serious injury to another will be drug tested as soon as reasonably possible following such incident. Under no circumstance will the employee be allowed to drive themselves to the testing facility.

Employees will be returned to work pending test results, except in the following circumstances where they will be placed on paid leave while pending test results:

- a) There is reasonable suspicion of drug or alcohol use by the employee in addition to the accident;
- b) Employee causes physical injury to self and/or another person requiring immediate medical treatment away from the scene;
- c) Incident results in City or personal vehicle damage;
- d) Incident results in damage to property and/or the circumstances imply that the accident or unsafe practice may have been caused by drug and/or alcohol use;
- e) Incident causes a fatality; or
- f) Employee has been involved in more than one work-related accident within the last 12-month period.

Employees who leave the scene of an accident and/or who do not inform their supervisor or Human Resources of the accident and how to reach them for testing purposes, barring medical-related emergencies, will be considered to have refused testing and may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

If an employee is injured in the scope of his/her employment and drug tests and/or other medical evidence indicates the presence of drugs or alcohol in the employee's body at that time of the accident, and it can be concluded that the drug(s) or alcohol used contributed to the accident, the employee will be required to forfeit any medical or indemnity benefits available under Florida's Workers ' Compensation statute, and will also forfeit eligibility for unemployment benefits. These penalties are in addition to any other penalties that may apply under this Policy or under applicable law.

# 4. Fitness for Duty

Employees should report to work fit for duty and free of any adverse effects of drugs or alcohol. This policy does not prohibit employees from the lawful use and possession of prescribed medications that do not impair the ability to safely perform the job. Employees must, however, consult with their doctors about the medications' effect on their fitness for duty and ability to work safely, and they must promptly disclose any work restrictions to their supervisor. Employees should not, however, disclose to the City underlying medical conditions unless directed to do so.

Any Employee required to submit to a Fitness for Duty medical examination will be drug tested as part of the examination.

## E. Follow-up

Employees who have tested positive, or otherwise violated this policy, are subject to discipline, up to and including termination. Depending on the circumstances and the employee's work history/record, the City of Greenacres may offer an employee who violates this policy or tests positive the opportunity to return to work on a last-chance agreement pursuant to mutually agreeable terms, which could include follow-up drug testing at times and frequencies determined by the City for a minimum of one year. If the employee either does not complete the rehabilitation program or tests positive after completing the rehabilitation program, the employee will be subject to immediate termination from employment.

# F. Collection and Testing Procedures

Employees subject to alcohol testing should be driven to a City of Greenacres-designated facility and directed to provide specimens. (Under no circumstances will the employee be allowed to drive himself or herself to the testing facility. A Supervisor or Human Resources must escort the employee; and will make arrangements for the employee to be transported home). A specimen level of .04 or greater is reported as a positive test result.

Employees subject to drug testing should be driven to a City

of Greenacres-designated facility and directed to provide specimens.

**10 PANEL DRUG SCREEN** with over the counter and prescription drugs which could alter or affect test results\*

#### Consists of:

## 1. AMPHETAMINES

Obetrol, Biphetamine, Desoxyn, Dexedrine, Didrex, Methamphetamine

- 2. MARIJUANA (CANNABINOIDS) in all forms Marinol, (Dronabinol, THC)
- 3. COCAINE (metabolite)
  Cocaine HCI topical Solution (Roxanne)
- 4. OPIATES

Paregoric, Parepectolin, Donnagel PG, Morphine, Tylenol with Codeine. Empirin with Codeine, APAP w/Codeine, Aspirin w/ Codeine, Robitussin AC, Guiatuss AC, Novahistine DH, Novahistine Expectorant, Dilaudid (Hydromorphone), M-S Contin and Roxanol (morphine sulfate), Percodan, Vicodin, etc.

- 5. PHENC YCLIDINE (PCP) Not legal by prescription
- 6. METHAQUALONE

  Not legal by prescription
- 7. BARBITURATES

Amobarbital, Phenobarbital, Tuinal, Amytal, Nembutal, Seconal, Lotusate, Fiorinal, Fioricet, Esgic, Butisol, Mebaral, Butabarbital, Butalbital, Pentobarbital, Secobarbital, Phrenilin, Triad, etc.

8. BENZODIAZEPINES

Ativan, Azene, Clonopin, Dalmane, Diazepam, Librium, Zanax, Serax, Tranxene, Valium, Halcion, Paxipam, Restoril, Centrax

- 9. METHADONE
  - Dolophine, Methadose
- 10. PROPAXYPHENE

Darvocet, Darvon N, Dolene, etc.

- 11. Other Synthetic narcotics not listed herein.
- 12. Alcohol (.04 or higher)

\*Due to the large number of obscure brand names and constant marketing of new products, this list cannot and is not intended to be allinclusive. New drugs will automatically be added to the list of controlled substances based on Florida Statute and federal laws, rules, and regulations.

The laboratory should transmit all positive drug test results to a MRO retained by the City of Greenacres, who should offer persons with positive results a reasonable opportunity to rebut or explain the results within five (5) working days after receiving notification of the test result. If the employee's explanation or challenge is unsatisfactory to the MRO, the MRO may report a positive test result back to the employer.

The City shall incur the cost of all tests which it requires of applicants and employees. An employee shall incur the cost of any additional testing not required by the City.

# G. Consequences

Job Applicants who refuse to cooperate with a drug test or who test positive will not be hired and will not be allowed to reapply/retest in the future.

Employees who refuse to cooperate in required tests or who use, possess, buy, sell, manufacture or dispense a drug in violation of this policy will be terminated. If the employee refuses to be tested, yet the City believes he or she is impaired, under no circumstances will the employee be allowed to drive himself or herself home.

The first time an employee tests positive for alcohol or drug use under this policy, the result will be discipline up to and including termination. The City may not terminate, discipline, or discriminate against an employee because the employee has voluntarily come forth to seek treatment for a drug-related problem prior to being directed to submit to a test or engaging in conduct that would result in a test if the employee has not previously tested positive for drug use.

Employees will be paid for time spent for alcohol or drug testing and then placed on paid leave pending the results of the drug or alcohol test. After the results of the test are received, a date and time will be scheduled to discuss the results of the test; this meeting will include Department Director, City Manager or Designee, and Human Resources.

An employee who is terminated or denied employment as a result of a positive drug/alcohol test, may not qualify for unemployment compensation benefits.

Violating this policy may negatively impact the employee's ability to gain the benefits of workers compensation insurance, COBRA, and/or unemployment benefits.

# H. Confidentiality

Information and records relating to drug test results, drug and alcohol dependencies, and legitimate medical explanations provided to the MRO should be kept confidential to the extent required by law and maintained in secure files separate from the personnel files. Such records and information may be disclosed among directors and supervisors on a need-to-know basis and may also be disclosed when relevant to a grievance, charge, claim or other legal proceeding initiated by or on behalf of an employee.

# I. Inspections

The City of Greenacres reserves the right to inspect all portions of its premises for drugs, alcohol or other contraband. All employees, contract employees, volunteers and visitors may be asked to cooperate in inspections of their persons, work areas and property that might conceal a drug, alcohol or other contraband. Employees who possess such contraband or refuse to cooperate in such inspections are subject to appropriate discipline, up to and including termination.

# J. Crimes Involving Drugs

The City of Greenacres prohibits all employees from manufacturing, distributing, dispensing, possessing or using a drug in or on City premises or while conducting City business. The City of Greenacres employees are also prohibited from misusing legally prescribed or over-the-counter (OTC) drugs. Law enforcement personnel should be notified, as appropriate, when criminal activity is suspected.

The City of Greenacres does not desire to intrude into the private lives of its employees, but recognizes that employees' off-the-job involvement with drugs and alcohol may have an impact on the workplace. Therefore, the City reserves the right to take appropriate disciplinary action for drug use, sale or distribution while off the City premises.

Any City employee who is arrested or convicted for a violation of a criminal drug statute must notify Human Resources in writing of such arrest or conviction immediately but in no event later than five (5) calendar days subsequent to such arrest or conviction. Employees must keep the City advised of the status of any pending criminal drug or alcohol case. Written notification of any criminal drug or alcohol conviction or other court adjudication of charges withheld, pending, and/or completion of court probation must be provided to Human Resources Division within five (5) calendar days of the court's decision. Based on job function and a failure of an employee to make such report could result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.

# K. Reasonable Suspicion and Post-Accident Testing Protocol

- 1. The employee will be advised that the City of Greenacres believes that there is reasonable suspicion that he or she is affected by drugs or alcohol (or due to the nature of the accident the policy mandates this) and that this test is being offered to confirm or deny this suspicion.
- 2. The employee will be transported to any one of the City's contracted testing facilities. A Supervisor or Human Resources Designee will accompany the employee. Under no circumstances will the employee be allowed to drive himself or herself to the testing facility.
- The employee to be tested must present a photo ID (i.e., a driver's license or state ID card) to the testing facility staff before the specimen can be obtained. Ensure that the employee brings the photo ID with him or her when leaving the City of Greenacres premises.
- The employee to be tested must sign a consent form provided by the testing facility. Refusal to sign is addressed under the "Consequences" section of this document.
- 5. A City of Greenacres Director/Supervisor must sign as a witness to the collection procedure, along with the tested employee.

6. After returning to the City or when leaving the testing facility, the supervisor/manager or designee must make arrangements to transport the employee home. Under no circumstances will the tested employee be allowed to drive himself or herself home.

# L. Challenges to Test Results

- 1. Within five (5) working days after receipt of a confirmed positive test result from the MRO, the City will notify the employee in writing of the test result and the consequences of such results.
- 2. Within 5 working days after receipt of a positive confirmed test result from the MRO, the City will inform an employee or job applicant in writing of the positive test result, the consequences of such results, and the options available to the employee or job applicant. The City will provide to the employee or job applicant, upon request, a copy of the test results.
- 3. Within 5 working days after receiving notice of a positive confirmed test result, an employee or job applicant may submit information to the City explaining or contesting the test result, and explaining why the result should not constitute a violation of the City's policy.
- 4. If the employee's or job applicant's explanation or challenge of the positive test result is unsatisfactory to the employer, a written explanation as to why the explanation is unsatisfactory, along with the report of positive result, shall be provided by the City to the employee or job applicant; and all such documentation shall be kept confidential by the City and retained for at least 1 year.
- 5. During the 180-day period after written notification of a positive test result, the employee or job applicant who has provided the specimen shall be permitted by the City to have a portion of the specimen retested, at the employee's or job applicant's expense, at another licensed and approved laboratory, chosen by the employee or job applicant. The second laboratory must test at equal or greater sensitivity for the drug in question as the first laboratory. The first laboratory that performed the test is responsible for the transfer of the

portion of the specimen to be retested, and for the integrity of the chain of custody during such transfer.

6. The employee or job applicant is responsible for notifying the laboratory of any administrative or civil action brought relating to this policy or the testing.

#### M. Resources

Suicide Prevention Lifeline 1-800-273-TALK (8255)

TTY: 1-800-799-4889

Website: www.suicidepreventionlifeline.org(link is

external)

24-hour, toll-free, confidential suicide prevention hotline available to anyone in suicidal crisis or emotional distress. Your call is routed to the nearest crisis center in the national network of more than 150 crisis centers.

# SAMHSA's National Helpline 1-800-662-HELP (4357) TTY: 1-800-487-4889

Website: <a href="www.samhsa.gov/find-help/national-helpline">www.samhsa.gov/find-help/national-helpline</a>
Also known as, the Treatment Referral Routing
Service, this Helpline provides 24-hour free and
confidential treatment referral and information about
mental and/or substance use disorders, prevention,
and recovery in English and Spanish.

# Disaster Distress Helpline 1-800-985-5990

Website: www.samhsa.gov/find-help/disaster-

distress-helpline

Stress, anxiety, and other depression-like symptoms are common reactions after any natural or human-caused disaster. Call this toll-free number to be connected to the nearest crisis center for information, support, and counseling.

Veteran's Crisis Line 1-800-273-TALK (8255) TTY: 1-800-799-4889

Website: <a href="www.veteranscrisisline.net">www.veteranscrisisline.net</a>(link is external)
Connects veterans in crisis (and their families and friends) with qualified, caring Department of Veterans

Affairs responders through a confidential, toll-free hotline, online chat, or text.

# Drug-Free Workplace 1-800-WORKPLACE (967-5752)

Website: <u>www.samhsa.gov/workplace/resources/drug</u>
<u>-free-helpline</u>

Assists employers and union representatives with policy development, drug testing, employee assistance, employee education, supervisor training, and program implementation.